Public Accounts Committee

Report on Improving Pupil Attendance: Follow-Up Report

Together with the Minutes of Proceedings of the Committee Relating to the Report and the Minutes of Evidence

Ordered by the Public Accounts Committee to be printed 14 May 2014 Report: NIA 181/11-15 (Public Accounts Committee)

REPORT EMBARGOED UNTIL 00:01 am on 11 June 2014

Mandate 2011/15 Twenty-Third Report

Membership and Powers

The Public Accounts Committee is a Standing Committee established in accordance with Standing Orders under Section 60(3) of the Northern Ireland Act 1998. It is the statutory function of the Public Accounts Committee to consider the accounts, and reports on accounts laid before the Assembly.

The Public Accounts Committee is appointed under Assembly Standing Order No. 56 of the Standing Orders for the Northern Ireland Assembly. It has the power to send for persons, papers and records and to report from time to time. Neither the Chairperson nor Deputy Chairperson of the Committee shall be a member of the same political party as the Minister of Finance and Personnel or of any junior minister appointed to the Department of Finance and Personnel.

The Committee has 11 members including a Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson and a quorum of 5.

The membership of the Committee since 23 May 2011 has been as follows:

- Ms Michaela Boyle ³ (Chairperson)
- Mr John Dallat ⁵ (Deputy Chairperson)
- Mr Trevor Clarke ⁸
- Mr Michael Copeland
- Mr Alex Easton ¹²
- Mr Paul Girvan
- Mr Chris Hazzard ¹⁰
- Mr Ross Hussey
- Mr Daithí McKay ⁷
- Mr Adrian McQuillan ¹
- Mr Seán Rogers ⁶

1 With effect from 24 October 2011 Mr Adrian McQuillan replaced Mr Paul Frew 2 With effect from 23 January 2012 Mr Conor Murphy replaced Ms Jennifer McCann 3 With effect from 02 July 2012 Ms Michaela Boyle replaced Mr Paul Maskey as Chairperson With effect from 02 July 2012 Mr Conor Murphy is no longer a Member of the Committee 4 5 With effect from 07 September 2012 Mr John Dallat replaced Mr Joe Byrne as Deputy Chairperson With effect from 10 September 2012 Mr Seán Rogers was appointed as a Member 6 7 With effect from 10 September 2012 Mr Daithí McKay was appointed as a Member 8 With effect from 01 October 2012 Mr Trevor Clarke replaced Mr Alex Easton 9 With effect from 11 February 2013 Mr Sammy Douglas replaced Mr Sydney Anderson 10 With effect from 15 April 2013 Mr Chris Hazzard replaced Mr Mitchel McLaughlin 11 With effect from 07 May 2013 Mr David McIlveen replaced Mr Sammy Douglas 12 With effect from 16 September 2013 Mr Alex Easton replaced Mr David McIlveen

Report on Improving Pupil Attendance: Follow-Up Re	port	

Table of Contents

List of abbreviations used in the Report	IV
Report	
Executive Summary	1
Summary of Recommendations	3
Introduction	5
Progress Since 2004	6
Leadership	7
Parental and Community Engagement	8
Good Practice	9
Education Welfare Service	10
Joined Up Working	11
Appendix 1:	
Minutes of Proceedings	15
Appendix 2:	
Minutes of Evidence	27
Appendix 3:	
Correspondence	63
Appendix 4:	
List of Witnesses	79

List of Abbreviations Used in the Report

the Committee Public Accounts Committee

C&AG Comptroller and Auditor General

the Audit Office Northern Ireland Audit Office (NIAO)

the Department Department of Education

ELBs Education and Library Boards

ETI Education and Training Inspectorate

EWS Education Welfare Service

BELB Belfast Education and Library Board

Executive Summary

- 1. Pupil attendance and educational achievement are inextricably linked and it is vital, therefore, that the education system does all that it can to ensure that children attend school regularly to make the most of their time in compulsory education. Those children who do not attend school regularly are effectively forfeiting the value of their education.
- 2. Overall, pupil attendance has improved marginally since statistics were first collected in 2007-08; however, it is concerning that the level of unauthorised absence has increased from 27 per cent in 2007-08 to 33 per cent in 2011-12 and is double that reported in England. The annual cost of this lost education is estimated to be in the region of £22 million.
- 3. The Committee is concerned that the absence levels reported for some of the most vulnerable groups of young people (including pupils from a socially deprived background, Traveller Children and Looked After Children) are much higher than the average. As the Accounting Officer acknowledged, the greatest empowerment tool out of poverty is investing in education. The Department must, therefore, do all it can to ensure that all children attend school regularly.
- 4. While the Department has taken a number of steps to improve pupil attendance over the last ten years, it is disappointing that it has not made more progress in implementing the recommendations in the Audit Office's 2004 report. In particular, the Department still has not developed or implemented an overall attendance strategy. While the Committee accepts that there is no 'magic bullet' to resolve the issue, the development of a coherent strategy is a necessary starting point and should be progressed urgently.
- 5. The Committee is not convinced that the Department has got to grips with the most deeprooted issues, such as social disadvantage and unauthorised absence. It is important that
 poverty is not used as an excuse for underachievement and poor attendance at school. The
 Department's strategy must consider how best to address the specific challenges relating to
 the most vulnerable groups.
- 6. Strong leadership is crucial in improving standards in a school. The Committee finds it unacceptable that, in its last biennial report, the Education and Training Inspectorate (ETI) identified the need to improve the quality of leadership in 22 per cent of primary and 39 per cent of post-primary schools inspected. The Department has to take the lead in supporting and promoting strong leadership in schools. Developing the right skills, identifying role models and building support networks will be key in achieving excellence.
- 7. While schools have a responsibility to promote and encourage attendance, parents have a legal duty to ensure that their children attend school regularly and it is the parents who effectively forfeit the value of their child's education if they do not ensure they attend. It is vital, therefore, that the Department does all it can to engage with disaffected parents and the local community to raise awareness of the value of education and ensure that all vulnerable children have access to the same opportunities. The ETI can play a role in monitoring parental and community engagement during its inspections.
- 8. The Committee is aware that there is already a plethora of good practice in our schools and that some schools have managed to overcome the problems associated with non-attendance, despite challenging circumstances. It is disappointing, however, that such examples are very much driven by individual schools. It is vital that the Department translates the identification and dissemination of good practice into a coherent plan so that all schools can share expertise in a structured way. The ETI is in an ideal position to identify and advocate good practice on two levels by producing thematic reports on pupil attendance and by embedding attendance issues more into its individual school inspections.

- 9. The Education Welfare Service (EWS) is a specialist education support service which seeks to help young people of compulsory school age and their families get the best out of the education system. A school can refer a pupil to the EWS when a pupil's attendance is cause for concern or when attendance drops below 85 per cent. The service is provided by the Education and Library Boards and it employs 134 Education Welfare Officers at a cost of £8.8 million each year.
- 10. Despite this substantial investment, the Committee considers it completely unacceptable that the EWS would discourage schools from making referrals. It is vitally important that schools have the freedom to refer all cases which give cause for concern and, in their view, require intervention. Without this freedom there is a risk that the education system could be failing the most vulnerable pupils.
- 11. The Committee is not convinced that the EWS is on top of the problem of non-attendance and appears to be too reactive. It lacks the basic management information necessary to monitor attendance on a real time basis and to take pre-emptive action with vulnerable children. The fact that 16,000 pupils a year miss almost 6 weeks of school, yet are not known to the EWS, is extremely disconcerting. This must be a priority for action.
- 12. It is clear that tackling the problem of non-attendance, and in particular persistent non-attendance, is highly complex and in certain cases it may be necessary to involve a wide range of stakeholders. Whilst the school could take action against, and offer support for, the pupil, if family issues are not addressed poor attendance patterns would almost inevitably reoccur. Non-attendance is representative of wider socio-economic problems and the Department and the schools sector cannot be expected to resolve such issues on their own.
- 13. There must be greater collaboration between school leaders, Education Welfare Officers, District Inspectors, Neighbourhood Renewal and Sure Start initiatives in order to break the cycle of trans-generational issues. People are disadvantaged, not areas, and families should not be precluded from help because of where they live.
- 15. It is important, therefore, that the Department's attendance strategy addresses the issue of non-attendance at primary and post primary school in a holistic and joined up manner. In order to do this, the Committee expects to see a collaborative strategy which includes other relevant departments and agencies, particularly in areas such as social services, social development and youth justice.

Summary of Recommendations

Recommendation 1

The Committee recommends that the Department should develop and implement an Attendance Strategy, which includes an action plan, within 6 to 12 months. It further recommends that the Department considers the following issues as part of its strategic response:

- targeting the absence of vulnerable groups, for example, socially disadvantaged pupils;
- the need to have different approaches and interventions for different stages of the 12 years of compulsory education;
- a differentiation in response between those children who have frequent, short absences and children who have long term absences from school; and
- early intervention and prevention.

Recommendation 2

The Committee recommends that the Department should consider how it can ensure that initiatives such as the Extended Schools Programme provide the same opportunity for all vulnerable children. It should also encourage all schools to actively engage with parents and the community. The level of engagement should be considered by the ETI during its inspections.

Recommendation 3

The ETI is in an ideal position to identify and advocate good practice but has not produced any reports or guidance in this area recently. Given that the Education Inspectorates in England and Wales have produced thematic reports on pupil attendance in the last two years, the Committee recommends that the ETI in Northern Ireland should adopt a more strategic approach.

The Committee recommends that the ETI should also have a key role in disseminating good practice 'on the ground' as its inspectors are in the unique position of visiting a variety of schools. The ETI should embed the issue of attendance further into its inspection process so that District Inspectors are alert to, and share examples of, innovative and effective attendance management strategies with those schools which have attendance issues.

Recommendation 4

The Committee recommends that the Department should develop a structured strategic approach to disseminating good practice amongst schools, in order to encourage them to collaborate and share expertise as a cost effective way of improving attendance. One approach is to pair schools with poor attendance with other schools which have turned attendance problems around, so that they can share experiences. Another option for sharing good practice on attendance issues is through existing sub-groups of Area Learning Communities. The mechanisms for dissemination must, however, be planned and not left to the initiative of individual schools.

Recommendation 5

The Committee recommends that a fundamental review of the EWS should be carried out, with the ultimate aim that schools should refer all cases where intervention is considered necessary and after the school has endeavoured to resolve the attendance issue itself. Although this is likely to result in an increase in demand for the EWS, and potentially contribute to an increase in waiting lists, it is essential that the Department has an opportunity to analyse the real level of demand for the service and consider how best to

resource it. The re-engineered EWS should be more proactive, carry out more preventative work, act with more urgency and should put in place a mechanism to ensure that all pupils requiring intervention are identified at the earliest possible opportunity.

The Committee recommends that the remit of the review should include urgent measures to address the current lack of basic management information available to EWS and inconsistent service provision across the five Education and Library Boards (ELBs), as these failings prevent the EWS from doing its job effectively.

Recommendation 6

The Committee strongly recommends that the Department should adopt a more cohesive and joined up approach in addressing the issues associated with non-attendance. In developing an attendance strategy (see Recommendation 1) the Department should set out how it will work with other relevant agencies in order to generate a wider societal approach to pupil attendance in primary and post-primary schools.

Introduction

- 1. The Public Accounts Committee met on 12 March 2014 to consider the Comptroller and Auditor General's (C&AG's) report: 'Improving Pupil Attendance: Follow-Up Report'. The witnesses were:
 - Mr Paul Sweeney, Accounting Officer, Department of Education (the Department);
 - Mrs Caroline Gillan, Head of Inclusion, Access and Well-Being, Department of Education;
 - Dr Clare Mangan, Chief Executive, Belfast Education and Library Board;
 - Ms Alex Barr, Chief Education Welfare Officer, Southern Education and Library Board;
 - **Mr Kieran Donnelly**, Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG), Northern Ireland Audit Office (NIAO);
 - Mr Mike Brennan, Acting Treasury Officer of Accounts, Department of Finance and Personnel.
- 2. Pupil attendance and educational achievement are inextricably linked and it is vital, therefore, that the education system does all that it can to ensure that children attend school regularly to make the most of their time in compulsory education. Those children who do not attend school regularly are effectively forfeiting the value of their education.
- Overall, pupil attendance has improved marginally since statistics were first collected in 2007-08; however, it is concerning that the level of unauthorised absence has increased from 27 per cent in 2007-08 to 33 per cent in 2011-12 and is double that reported in England. The annual cost of this lost education is estimated to be in the region of £22 million.
- 4. The Committee is concerned that the absence levels reported for some of the most vulnerable groups of young people (including pupils from a socially deprived background, Traveller Children and Looked After Children) are much higher than the average. As the Accounting Officer acknowledged, the greatest empowerment tool out of poverty is investing in education. The Department must, therefore, do all it can to ensure that all children attend school regularly.

Progress since 2004

- 5. The Audit Office last reported on Pupil Attendance in 2004. During the evidence session, the Accounting Officer assured the Committee that the Department had taken a number of steps to improve pupil attendance over the last ten years, including improved absence data collection, publication of guidance circulars, commissioning of research and the implementation of a more vocational curriculum. However, by its own admission, the Department has not been sufficiently explicit or targeted enough on attendance. It is particularly concerning that, ten years later, the Department still has no attendance strategy in place.
- 6. While the Committee recognises that the Department has made some progress in addressing the recommendations made in the 2004 Audit Office report, progress has been slow and the lack of urgency and implementation within such an important area is a matter of grave concern. Despite the Department's claims that it has been acting strategically, the actions identified seemed to lack coherence and were piecemeal and disparate in nature. While the Committee accepts that there is no 'magic bullet' to resolve the issue, the development of a coherent strategy is a necessary starting point. The Department indicated that it intends to produce an attendance strategy over the next 12-18 months. However, in 2013 the Audit Office reported that 9,000 pupils leave full-time education every year not having achieved the required standard in literacy and numeracy. Given that attendance and achievement are inextricably linked, the Committee considers that a delay of 12-18 months is unacceptable and that an attendance strategy should be implemented as a matter of urgency.
- 7. The Committee is not convinced that the Department has got to grips with the most deep-rooted issues, such as social disadvantage and unauthorised absence. There are many examples of schools that have high levels of attendance despite challenging circumstances. It is important, therefore, that poverty is not used as an excuse for underachievement and poor attendance at school. The Department's strategy must consider how best to address the specific challenges relating to the most vulnerable groups.
- 8. Although non-attendance rates are higher in post-primary schools, by this stage much of the harm has been done. While the Accounting Officer assured the Committee that the Department has invested in early intervention (for example, with initiatives such as Sure Start for preschool children and tracking of attendance during the early years of primary schools), he accepted that there needs to be greater focus on prevention and early intervention. The Department's strategy has to ensure that early intervention and prevention are the key underlying principles.

Recommendation 1

The Committee recommends that the Department should develop and implement an Attendance Strategy, which includes an action plan, within 6 to 12 months. It further recommends that the Department considers the following issues as part of its strategic response:

- targeting the absence of vulnerable groups, for example, socially disadvantaged pupils;
- the need to have different approaches and interventions for different stages of the 12 years of compulsory education;
- a differentiation in response between those children who have frequent, short absences and children who have long term absences from school; and
- early intervention and prevention.

Leadership

- 9. A school principal can determine the level of priority and resource that a school will devote to monitoring and improving pupil attendance. During its school visits, the Audit Office found that principals in schools with high or improving levels of pupil attendance placed a great deal of emphasis on promoting the importance of attendance at school, monitoring attendance records and, where required, putting measures in place to improve performance.
- 10. Strong leadership is crucial in improving standards in a school. Therefore, the Committee finds it disappointing that, in its last biennial report, the ETI identified the need to improve the quality of leadership in 22 per cent of primary and 39 per cent of post-primary schools inspected. The Department has to take the lead in supporting and promoting strong leadership in schools. Developing the right skills, identifying role models and building support networks will be key in achieving excellence.
- 11. In its 2013 report on Literacy and Numeracy Achievement in Schools, the Committee recommended that the Department must develop a more strategic approach to succession planning and the development of future leaders and leadership roles at all levels in schools. This recommendation must remain a priority for the Department.

Parental and Community Engagement

- While schools have a responsibility to promote and encourage attendance, parents have a legal duty to ensure that their children attend school regularly and it is the parents who effectively forfeit the value of their child's education if they do not ensure they attend. The opportunity cost of unauthorised absence in 2011-12 was £22 million. It is vital, therefore, that the education sector does all it can to engage with disaffected parents and the local community to raise awareness of the value of education. The Comptroller and Auditor General saw evidence of how well this had worked in a number of schools. Despite very challenging circumstances, a number of schools have managed to establish strong links with parents and the local community and the benefits of this approach have been reflected in the schools' attendance records.
- 13. The Accounting Officer assured the Committee that the Department recognises the importance of parents and communities valuing education. It engages with the local community through a range of initiatives, including Sure Start for preschool children and the Extended Schools Programme. The latter provides £12.5 million additional funding to 500 targeted schools in disadvantaged areas each year to set up breakfast and homework clubs which involve parents and the community in the school. However, the Accounting Officer acknowledged that more effort should be put into fostering a culture of parental and community support for education.
- 14. The Committee welcomes initiatives such as the Extended Schools Programme however it is concerned that the schemes are targeted towards geographical areas and fail to take account of some of the most vulnerable children living in pockets of social deprivation. The Department must ensure that all vulnerable children have access to the same opportunities.

Recommendation 2

The Committee recommends that the Department should consider how it can ensure that initiatives such as the Extended Schools Programme provide the same opportunity for all vulnerable children. It should also encourage all schools to actively engage with parents and the community. The level of engagement should be considered by the ETI during its inspections.

Good Practice

- 15. While it is encouraging that there is so much good practice in operation in our schools, it is sporadic, and often schools in similar areas, facing similar challenges, have very different levels of attendance and educational outcomes.
- 16. The Accounting Officer agreed that the Department needs to commend good practice and disseminate it. The Committee considers it vital that these intentions lead to the practice of sharing expertise between schools.
- 17. The Committee is aware that there is already a plethora of good practice in our schools and that some schools have managed to overcome the problems associated with non-attendance despite very challenging circumstances. It is disappointing however, that such examples are very much driven bottom-up, by individual schools. As the Department itself acknowledged, it needs to engage more intensively with schools to identify and disseminate good practice. The ETI can play a role in this area. It should consider looking at attendance in a thematic manner in addition to giving it more prominence in individual school inspections.

Recommendation 3

The ETI is in an ideal position to identify and advocate good practice but has not produced any reports or guidance in this area recently. Given that the Education Inspectorates in England and Wales have produced thematic reports on pupil attendance in the last two years, the Committee recommends that the ETI in Northern Ireland should adopt a more strategic approach.

The Committee recommends that the ETI should also have a key role in disseminating good practice 'on the ground' as its inspectors are in the unique position of visiting a variety of schools. The ETI should embed the issue of attendance further into its inspection process so that District Inspectors are alert to, and share examples of, innovative and effective attendance management strategies with those schools which have attendance issues.

Recommendation 4

The Committee recommends that the Department should develop a structured strategic approach to disseminating good practice amongst schools, in order to encourage them to collaborate and share expertise as a cost effective way of improving attendance. One approach is to pair schools with poor attendance with other schools which have turned attendance problems around, so that they can share experiences. Another option for sharing good practice on attendance issues is through existing sub-groups of Area Learning Communities. The mechanisms for dissemination must, however, be planned and not left to the initiative of individual schools.

Education Welfare Service

- 18. The EWS is a specialist education support service which seeks to help young people of compulsory school age and their families get the best out of the education system. A school can refer a pupil to the EWS when a pupil's attendance is cause for concern or when attendance drops below 85 per cent. The service is provided by the Education and Library Boards and it employs 134 Education Welfare Officers at a cost £8.8 million each year.
- 19. Despite this substantial investment, the Committee was alarmed by the findings in the Audit Office report and considers it completely unacceptable that the EWS would discourage schools from making referrals. It is vitally important that schools have the freedom to refer all cases which give cause for concern and, in their view, require intervention. Without this freedom there is a risk that the education system could be failing the most vulnerable pupils.
- 20. Despite assuring the Committee that the EWS undertakes regular audits in all schools, the Chief Education Welfare Officer admitted that it is not unusual to receive a referral at the end of the school year when it is not possible to offer any intervention. This is unacceptable and the EWS must have a mechanism in place for ensuring that pupils requiring intervention are identified at the earliest possible opportunity.
- 21. The Committee is concerned that the EWS does not have real time access to attendance records. This information should, in the Committee's opinion, be available to the Education Welfare Officers at the push of a button. The Chief Executive of Belfast Education and Library Board (BELB) confirmed that a pilot exercise was carried out a few years ago to identify possible technical issues which would arise from Education Welfare Officers accessing the C2K systems¹ from the ELB rather than out at schools and indicated that this pilot would recommence across the five ELBs in 2014. However the Committee considers that if the EWS is to provide an efficient and effective service, it must have access to the system as a matter of urgency.
- 22. The Committee is not convinced that the EWS is on top of the problem of non-attendance and appears to be too reactive. It lacks the basic management information necessary to monitor attendance on a real time basis and to take pre-emptive action with vulnerable children. The fact that 16,000 pupils a year miss almost six weeks of school yet are not known to the EWS is extremely disconcerting. This must be a priority for action.

Recommendation 5

The Committee recommends that a fundamental review of the EWS should be carried out, with the ultimate aim that schools should refer all cases where intervention is considered necessary and after the school has endeavoured to resolve the attendance issue itself. Although this is likely to result in an increase in demand for the EWS, and potentially contribute to an increase in waiting lists, it is essential that the Department has an opportunity to analyse the real level of demand for the service and consider how best to resource it. The re-engineered EWS should be more proactive, carry out more preventative work, act with more urgency and should put in place a mechanism to ensure that all pupils requiring intervention are identified at the earliest possible opportunity.

The Committee recommends that the remit of the review should include urgent measures to address the current lack of basic management information available to EWS and inconsistent service provision across the five ELBs, as these failings prevent the EWS from doing its job effectively.

The C2K project provides the infrastructure and services to support the enhanced use of ICT in schools in Northern Ireland.

Joined Up Working

- 23. It is clear that tackling the problem of non-attendance, and in particular persistent non-attendance, is highly complex and in certain cases it may be necessary to involve a wide range of stakeholders. Whilst the school could take action against, and offer support for, the pupil, if family issues are not addressed poor attendance patterns would almost inevitably reoccur. In such cases a more innovative approach will be required and this may involve engaging a number of third parties in order to identify and address the pupil's needs. Joined up service delivery is one means of addressing the range of social and emotional difficulties that pupils and their families may face.
- While the Accounting Officer indicated that the Department is involved in cross-departmental measures which impact on the causes of absence, such as Sure Start and Neighbourhood Renewal Areas, it is unacceptable that the Department has only recently contacted the Department of Justice to establish links on attendance. The Committee is also concerned that many of the resources appear disparate and questions whether the effectiveness of these initiatives is being evaluated. There must be greater collaboration between school leaders, Educations Welfare Officers, District Inspectors, Neighbourhood Renewal and Sure Start initiatives in order to break the cycle of trans-generational issues. People are disadvantaged, not areas, and families should not be precluded from help because of where they live.
- 25. The Committee welcomes initiatives such as Sure Start, however it is disappointing that not all disadvantaged children have access to the activities that it provides. The Department told the Committee that the scheme is currently under review. This review should examine whether the scheme can be more flexible, to focus on vulnerable individuals and not just areas.
- 26. Non-attendance is, of course, representative of wider socio-economic problems and the Department and the schools sector cannot be expected to resolve such issues on their own. It is important, therefore, that the Department's attendance strategy addresses the issue of non-attendance in a holistic and joined up manner. In order to do this, the Committee expects to see a collaborative strategy which includes other relevant departments and agencies, particularly in areas such as social services, social development and youth justice.

Recommendation 6

The Committee strongly recommends that the Department should adopt a more cohesive and joined up approach in addressing the issues associated with non-attendance. In developing an attendance strategy (see Recommendation 1) the Department should set out how it will work with other relevant agencies in order to generate a wider societal approach to pupil attendance in primary and post-primary schools.



Appendix 1

Minutes of Proceedings of the Committee Relating to the Report

Wednesday, 19 February 2014 Room 29, Parliament Buildings

Present: Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)

Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)

Mr Trevor Clarke Mr Michael Copeland

Mr Alex Easton Mr Paul Girvan Mr Chris Hazzard Mr Ross Hussey Mr Daithí McKay Mr Adrian McQuillan Mr Seán Rogers

In Attendance: Ms Lucia Wilson (Assembly Clerk)

Miss Aoibhinn Treanor (Assembly Clerk)
Mr Trevor Allen (Assistant Assembly Clerk)
Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor)

Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer) Miss Clare Rice (Bursary Student)

Apologies: None

2.06pm The meeting opened in public session

2.12pm Mr McQuillan joined the meeting

2.21pm Mr Copeland left the meeting

2.22pm Mr Copeland re-joined the meeting

2.23pm The meeting moved to closed session

2.26pm Mr McKay left the meeting

2.37pm Mr McKay re-joined the meeting

2.44pm Mr Hussey left the meeting

3.01pm Mr Copeland left the meeting

3.08pm Mr Copeland re-joined the meeting

3.13pm Mr Dallat left the meeting

3.23pm Mr Dallat re-joined the meeting

3.26pm Mr McQuillan left the meeting

3.29pm Mr McQuillan re-joined the meeting

5. Improving Pupil Attendance: Follow-Up Report – Briefing Session

4.00pm Mr Clarke, Mr Copeland and Mr McQuillan left the meeting

4.07pm Mr Easton left the meeting

4.08pm Mr McKay left the meeting

4.16pm Mr McKay re-joined the meeting

- 4.21pm Mr Easton re-joined the meeting
- 4.33pm Mr Hazzard left the meeting

The Committee received briefing from the C&AG, Eddie Bradley, Suzanne Walsh and Richard Emerson on the Audit Office's report 'Improving Pupil Attendance: Follow-Up Report'.

Wednesday, 26 February 2014 Room 29, Parliament Buildings

Present: Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)

Mr Trevor Clarke
Mr Michael Copeland
Mr Alex Easton
Mr Paul Girvan
Mr Chris Hazzard
Mr Ross Hussey
Mr Daithí McKay
Mr Adrian McQuillan
Mr Seán Rogers

In Attendance: Ms Lucia Wilson (Assembly Clerk)

Mr Trevor Allen (Assistant Assembly Clerk)

Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer) Miss Clare Rice (Bursary Student)

Apologies: Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)

2.03pm The meeting opened in public session

2.04pm Mr Girvan and Mr Clarke joined the meeting

2.05pm The meeting moved to closed session

2.12pm Mr Rogers joined the meeting

2.14pm Mr Hussey left the meeting

2.20pm Mr McKay joined the meeting

2.40pm Mr Copeland left the meeting

2.51pm Mr Copeland re-joined the meeting

2.52pm Mr Easton left the meeting

2.56pm Mr Easton re-joined the meeting

7. Improving Pupil Attendance: Follow-Up Report – Preparation Session

The Committee explored core issues arising from the Audit Office follow-up report on improving pupil attendance in preparation for its forthcoming evidence session on 12 March 2014.

3.16pm Mr Clarke left the meeting

Wednesday, 12 March 2014 Room 29, Parliament Buildings

Present: Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)

Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)

Mr Trevor Clarke Mr Michael Copeland

Mr Alex Easton Mr Paul Girvan Mr Chris Hazzard Mr Ross Hussey Mr Daithí McKay Mr Adrian McQuillan Mr Seán Rogers

In Attendance: Ms Lucia Wilson (Assembly Clerk)

Mr Trevor Allen (Assistant Assembly Clerk) Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor)

Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer) Miss Clare Rice (Bursary Student)

Apologies: None

2.10pm The meeting opened in public session

2.11pm Mr Dallat left the meeting

2.13pm Mr Dallat re-joined the meeting

3. Inquiry into Improving Pupil Attendance: Follow-up report – Evidence Session

Mr Hussey declared an interest in this item of business as a member of the Board of Governors of Omagh High School.

The Committee noted correspondence from Mr Paul Sweeney, Accounting Officer, Department of Education, on errors identified in the NIAO Report "Improving Pupil Attendance: Follow-up Report".

- 2.14pm Mr Copeland joined the meeting
- 2.18pm Mr Rogers joined the meeting
- 2.18pm Mr Girvan left the meeting
- 2.19pm Mr McKay joined the meeting
- 2.20pm Mr Girvan re-joined the meeting

The Committee took oral evidence on the above inquiry from:

- Mr Paul Sweeney, Accounting Officer, Department of Education;
- Mrs Caroline Gillan, Director of Access, Inclusion and Well-Being, Department of Education;
- Dr Clare Mangan, Chief Executive, Belfast Education & Library Board; amd
- Ms Alex Barr, Chief Education Welfare Officer, Southern Education and Library Board.

The witnesses answered a number of questions put by the Committee and agreed to provide additional information in writing.

- 2.33pm Mr Clarke left the meeting
- 2.42pm Mr Clarke re-joined the meeting
- **2.44pm** Mr Hazzard joined the meeting
- 2.50pm Mr Hussey joined the meeting
- 2.58pm Mr Hussey re-joined the meeting
- 2.59pm Mr Rogers left the meeting
- 3.02pm Mr Rogers re-joined the meeting
- 3.16pm Mr Copeland left the meeting
- 3.27pm Mr Copeland re-joined the meeting
- 3.30pm Mr McQuillan left the meeting
- 3.33pm Mr McQuillan re-joined the meeting
- 3.37pm Mr McQuillan left the meeting
- **3.41pm** Mr Clarke left the meeting
- 3.43pm Mr Clarke re-joined the meeting
- 3.44pm Mr McQuillan re-joined the meeting
- 3.52pm Mr McKay left the meeting
- **3.58pm** Mr McKay re-joined the meeting
- 4.00pm Mr Dallat and Mr Girvan left the meeting
- 4.01pm Mr McQuillan left the meeting
- **4.01pm** Mr Girvan re-joined the meeting
- **4.01pm** Mr Hussey left the meeting
- 4.02pm Mr McKay left the meeting
- 4.33pm Mr Copeland left the meeting

Wednesday, 19 March 2014 Room 29, Parliament Buildings

Present: Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)

Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)

Mr Trevor Clarke Mr Michael Copeland

Mr Alex Easton Mr Paul Girvan Mr Chris Hazzard Mr Ross Hussey Mr Seán Rogers

In Attendance: Ms Lucia Wilson (Assembly Clerk)

Mr Trevor Allen (Assistant Assembly Clerk) Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor)

Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer)

Apologies: Mr Daithí McKay

Mr Adrian McQuillan

- 2.39pm The meeting opened in public session
- 2.40pm Mr Rogers joined the meeting
- 2.46pm The meeting moved to closed session

4. Inquiry into Improving Pupil Attendance: Follow-up report – Consideration of Issues Paper

Mr Rogers and Mr Hazzard declared an interest in this item of business as members of the Education Committee

The Committee received briefing from the C&AG, Eddie Bradley and Richard Emerson on the inquiry's issues paper.

- 2.57pm Mr Copeland joined the meeting
- 3.00pm Ms Boyle left the meeting; Mr Dallat took the Chair

Agreed: The Committee noted the issues paper and agreed that the report on the inquiry

be drafted on this basis.

Wednesday, 30 April 2014 Room 106, Parliament Buildings

Present: Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)

Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)

Mr Trevor Clarke Mr Michael Copeland Mr Alex Easton

Mr Ross Hussey Mr Daithí McKay Mr Seán Rogers

In Attendance: Ms Lucia Wilson (Assembly Clerk)

Mr Trevor Allen (Assistant Assembly Clerk)
Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor)

Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer) Miss Clare Rice (Bursary Student)

Apologies: Mr Chris Hazzard

Mr Adrian McQuillan Mr Paul Girvan

2.19pm The meeting opened in public session

2.26pm the meeting moved to closed session

2.27pm Mr Clarke joined the meeting

2.33pm Mr McKay joined the meeting

2.43pm Mr Rogers joined the meeting

2.43pm Mr Copeland left the meeting

3.05pm Mr Hussey left the meeting

3.09pm Mr Hussey re-joined the meeting

3.19pm Mr Hussey left the meeting

3.21pm Mr Rogers left the meeting

3.26pm Mr Rogers re-joined the meeting

3.31pm Mr Easton left the meeting

9. Inquiry into Improving Pupil Attendance: Follow-Up Report – Consideration of Draft Report

Members noted correspondence from Mr Paul Sweeney, Accounting Officer for the Department of Education, clarifying issues raised during the meeting of 12 March 2014.

The Committee considered its draft report on the above inquiry.

Introduction Section

Paragraphs 1 to 4 read and agreed.

Progress Since 2004

Paragraphs 5 and 6 read and agreed.

Paragraph 7 read, amended and agreed.

Paragraph 8 read and agreed.

4.03pm Mr Clarke left the meeting

4.07pm Mr Clarke left the meeting

Recommendation 1 read, amended and agreed.

Paragraph 9 read and agreed.

Paragraph 10 read, amended and agreed.

Paragraph 11 read and agreed.

Parental and Community Engagement

Paragraphs 12 read, amended and agreed.

Paragraphs 13 and 14 read and agreed.

Recommendation 2 read and agreed.

Good Practice

Paragraph 15 read and agreed.

Paragraph 16 read, amended and agreed.

Paragraph 17 read and agreed.

Recommendations 3 and 4 read and agreed.

Education Welfare Service

Paragraphs 18 to 20 deferred for consideration at the meeting on 7th May 2014.

Paragraph 21 read and agreed.

Paragraph 22 read, amended and agreed.

Recommendation 5 deferred for consideration at the meeting on 7th May 2014.

Joined Up Working

Paragraphs 23 to 26 read, amended and agreed.

Recommendation 6 read and agreed.

Executive Summary

Paragraphs 1 to 4 read and agreed.

Paragraph 5 read, amended and agreed.

Paragraphs 6 to 15 read and agreed.

Summary of Recommendations

Recommendation 1 read, amended and agreed.

Recommendations 2 to 4 read and agreed.

Recommendation 5 deferred for consideration at the meeting on 7th May 2014.

Recommendation 6 read and agreed.

Agreed: The Committee agreed to defer consideration of the appendices to the report to

the meeting on 7th May 2014.

Wednesday, 14 May 2014 Senate Chamber, Parliament Buildings

Present: Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)

Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)

Mr Michael Copeland

Mr Alex Easton Mr Paul Girvan Mr Chris Hazzard Mr Ross Hussey Mr Daithí McKay Mr Seán Rogers

In Attendance: Ms Lucia Wilson (Assembly Clerk)

Mr Trevor Allen (Assistant Assembly Clerk) Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor)

Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer) Miss Clare Rice (Bursary Student)

Apologies: Mr Trevor Clarke

Mr Adrian McQuillan

2.04pm The meeting commenced in closed session

2.05pm Mr Girvan left the meeting

Inquiry into Improving Pupil Attendance: Follow-Up Report – Final Consideration of Draft Report

The Committee continued its consideration of its draft report on the above inquiry.

Education Welfare Service

Paragraphs 18 to 20 read and agreed.

Paragraph 22 read, amended and agreed.

Recommendation 5 read and agreed.

Summary of Recommendations

Recommendation 5 read and agreed.

Agreed: The Committee agreed the minutes, minutes of evidence and correspondence to

be included as appendices to the report.

Agreed: The Committee ordered the report to be printed.



Appendix 2 Minutes of Evidence

12 March 2014

Members present for all or part of the proceedings:

Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)

Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)

Mr Trevor Clarke

Mr Michael Copeland

Mr Alex Easton

Mr Paul Girvan

Mr Chris Hazzard

Mr Ross Hussey

Mr Daithí McKay

Mr Adrian McQuillan

Mr Seán Rogers

Witnesses:

Mr Mike Brennan Acting Treasury Officer of Accounts Belfast Education Dr Clare Mangan and Library Board Mr Kieran Donnelly Comptroller and **Auditor General** Mrs Caroline Gillan Department of Mr Paul Sweeney Education Ms Alex Barr Southern Education and Library Board

- 1. **The Chairperson**: I welcome Mr Paul Sweeney, the accounting officer for the Department of Education, who is here with his team. You are very welcome, Paul. Please introduce your team.
- 2. Mr Paul Sweeney (Department of Education): Good afternoon, Chair and members. I introduce Caroline Gillan, director of inclusion, access and well-being, and assistant secretary in the Department of Education; Dr Clare Mangan, chief executive of the Belfast Education and Library Board; and Alex Barr, chief education welfare officer for both the Southern Education and Library Board and the Western Education and Library Board.
- 3. **The Chairperson**: Thank you, Paul. Members, you will find the biographies of all our witnesses on pages 12 to 16 of your packs.

- 4. Mr Mike Brennan is also here, acting on behalf of Fiona Hamill, along with Kieran Donnelly. I point out that we usually hold our meetings in the Senate Chamber, but we are in room 29 due to other Committee commitments in the Building. Therefore, we do not have the usual layout, with the Comptroller and Auditor General and Fiona Hamilton or Mike Brennan on either side of us. Members, if there is anything that you want clarified by the auditor, you will have that opportunity after the evidence session.
- 5. Members, before we proceed further, I draw your attention to correspondence that we have just received from the Department of Education, which states that there are two errors in the Audit Office report on improving pupil attendance. They are not Audit Office errors; they came from the Department. The first relates to the number of cases referred to the Education Welfare Service (EWS) that resulted in a fine to parents. The report states that there were 108 such cases in paragraph 17 on page 7, and in paragraph 3.30 on page 40. The second error refers to the number of education supervision orders, which is stated in the report as 24. That information can also be found in paragraph 17 on page 7 of the report, and paragraph 3.30 on page 40.
- 6. Mr Sweeney's correspondence provides corrected figures for those two points. A copy of that correspondence has been provided to members only now because it was received just this afternoon. Members may wish to take time to look at that.
- 7. **Mr Dallat**: Chairperson, could you give us the two page numbers again?
- 8. **The Chairperson**: Yes. They are paragraph 17 on page 7, and paragraph 3.30 on page 40.

- 9. Mr McQuillan: What is the actual number of cases that resulted in fines or an education supervision order?
- 10. **The Chairperson**: The numbers are 36 and 47, across the boards. Mr Sweeney, can you explain how those figures have been reached? They could have been brought to the attention of the Committee sooner, bearing in mind that the report has been out for some time. The report was signed off by your Department before it was published. Will you comment on that?
- 11. **Mr Sweeney**: First, I owe the Committee an unreserved apology. As you can imagine, we prepared for today's evidence session and, in doing so, I wanted to interrogate the figures, particularly around the number of fines. In doing so, we were not able to substantiate those figures. Therefore, I invited, through Clare, each of the boards to interrogate those figures. I received the new figures this morning and got them to the Committee as soon as I possibly could, which was before 1.00 pm today.
- 12. **The Chairperson**: Part of the reason why we have you here today is to discuss the keeping of correct data on the system. Some members might want to comment on that.
- 13. **Mr Dallat**: Given that we will be focusing, by and large, on statistics, it is certainly disappointing to find at the very last moment that the Department's own figures are incorrect. Not only that, but we are finding out only as we start our session that we need to make corrections. That certainly does not instill confidence in me that any statistics from the Department are reliable.
- 14. **Mr McQuillan**: I concur with John. It starts us off on the wrong foot. We may have to double-check things before we come to a conclusion.
- 15. **The Chairperson**: Thank you, members. I concur with what you have said. It is disappointing that figures have had to be corrected at this late stage, when we are about to take evidence. I reiterate that part of the inquiry will focus on

- data systems and the mechanisms for keeping correct data. Thank you for that, Mr Sweeney. We will move on.
- 16. I will start my line of questioning on the Department's progress in implementing the recommendations of the 2004 report. In my opinion and that of the Committee, that progress appears to have been, at best, very slow. Some of the recommendations in the 2004 report have not been implemented at all. Although there has been a marginal improvement in overall pupil attendance, there has also been an increase in unauthorised absence. Mr Sweeney, can you explain why, in 10 years, the Department has not developed an attendance strategy, despite that being a key recommendation in the previous Audit Office report? What is the Department doing about that?
- 17. **Mr Sweeney**: Chair, thank you. I very much welcome the report. It wholly aligns with the Department's priorities of raising standards and tackling educational underachievement. Obviously, at the core of the report is the recognition that attendance and educational achievement are inextricably linked.
- 18. I accept that the Department has not published a strategy for tackling attendance but, in responding to those issues, we have operated within a strategic framework. As you said, there has been a marginal increase in the figures overall, but, disappointingly, the area of unauthorised absence remains very challenging. During this session, I hope that we will be able to provide evidence to the Committee of the steps that we have taken over a number of years to respond in a strategic way.
- 19. Importantly, the report is very timely and has created a new impetus in the Department. If I were to be self-critical, although we have focused relentlessly on raising attainment attainment and attendance are inextricably linked I feel that we have not been explicit, focused and targeted enough on the issue of attendance. The publication of the report gives us a new impetus and focus whereby the Department

and the boards, in partnership with schools, parents and communities, can work forward in a more joined-up way. The first stage will be more proactive engagement with schools, particularly those in the most disadvantaged areas, and that will lead to a marshalling of all the best-practice guidance that we have in the publication of an agreed strategy.

- 20. **The Chairperson**: OK. Basically, what you are saying, Mr Sweeney, is that it is a work in progress. Is there a timeline for that agreed strategy?
- 21. **Mr Sweeney**: The timeline is somewhere between 12 and 18 months. I would like to explain my reasoning for that. One of the key recommendations in the report is to more intensely engage with schools, particularly those in the most disadvantaged areas and, arguably, post-primary schools, and to work with them to identify and disseminate best practice.
- 22. It is really important that targets are not top-down; that was drawn out in the 2004 report. Targets need to be grown from the bottom up, and we must work with schools to realistically assess what challenging and realistic targets could be set by schools and boards and by the Department on an overall and regional basis.
- 23. We have identified the schools that we want to engage with in the first instance. We will have one substantive round of discussions with those schools before the summer and re-engage with them in the autumn. The formulation of the strategy will really depend on what additional steps are required, over and above the good work that we are involved in. If, for example, it was the will of the Assembly that we take some particularly radical steps that might require legislation, that will determine whether there will have to be a period of consultation on a draft strategy. We will put urgency into that work. However, to make sure that it is substantive document, it will require somewhere between 12 and 18 months.
- 24. **The Chairperson**: I am sure that other members will want to come in

- on this, but that brings me on to the Committee's visit to Millburn Primary School last week in preparation for this session. We saw at first hand how one school was able to tackle non-attendance in extremely difficult circumstances. The Committee was extremely impressed with the efforts of the school and how everyone engaged with the local community. Obviously, early intervention has been highlighted as good practice, and it was key in that school. Given that the report highlights that absence levels increase as pupils progress through post-primary, surely more needs to be done to tackle the problem early on. I would imagine that early intervention will be part of the strategy.
- 25. Mr Sweeney: Yes. The Department has an overall focus on raising standards and tackling the cycle of disadvantage, poor attendance and poor outcomes. Members will be aware of the investment that the Department has made in early years, from Sure Start through to preschool, nursery school and primary school. We see the importance of tracking poor attendance even in the preschool period and certainly in primary school. That can be symptomatic of more serious underlying causes. It really is important that all the partners who are involved, from social services to educationalists, teachers, leaders in schools, parents and boards of governors, share that intelligence so that there is early identification and early steps can be taken to be more preventative.
- 26. The Chairperson: I understand the due process and what has to be done as far as intervention is concerned. However, during our visit to Millburn Primary School, we saw the school working with parents and the community on a first-hand basis. It is important to keep within regulations and everything else, but you have to allow the schools to take a common-sense approach to dealing with an issue when it arises. At times, that may mean that a school has to work slightly outside of the norm. That is key to a successful outcome and tackling the societal problems that

are faced by families, schools and the whole school community. We saw that at first hand in Millburn Primary School, and it works. I would like to hear more about that later on. I will bring in other members.

- 27. **Mr Dallat**: Chairperson, you quite rightly identified Millburn Primary School as exemplar material. Perhaps you will also recall that we visited another institution last year. It is called Magilligan jail.

 There, we saw the finest examples of education, and attendance was certainly compulsory.
- 28. Given that nothing dramatic has happened since 2004, are you conscious that, every year, 4,000 young people here leave school unable to read or write? Are you conscious that 80% of those who end up in jail did not attend school as children and that some left unable to even write their own names? However, they discovered in jail that they were quite intelligent, bright people, and some of them even went on to write books and so on.
- 29. Mr Sweeney, is it good enough to come here 10 years on from the last time I sat on an Audit Office report on this subject and tell us that, in 18 months, you are going to change things, when Millburn has already done it? That school is in Ballysally, a place that was wrongly portrayed in the media as 'The Estate', and it has done fantastic work. Are you sitting on your hands or do you know about the schools in the most socially deprived areas that are getting it right?
- 30. **Mr Sweeney**: It was exactly this time last year that we took part in the evidence session on literacy and numeracy. Some of the points that Mr Dallat has raised were at the very heart of that discussion. So, am I aware of the impact of non-attendance and poor educational outcomes? Yes.
- 31. At this stage of the evidence session, I do not want to list a whole range of initiatives that we have taken. However, I will cite one very significant policy shift in the Department. In 2009, we published 'Every School a Good School'.

- At the very heart of that document was the notion of autonomy in schools and creating an environment in which the Department told school leaders, such as Mr Platt at Millburn Primary School, that it believes in school leadership. We delegate authority to schools and give as much support as we possibly can to them. The people who are best placed to tackle issues such as underachievement and poor attendance in the first instance are the school leaders. The Department's focus has been on getting behind high-quality school leadership that is pupil-centric and community-orientated and has a good board of governors. When all that comes together, terrific things can happen. However, sadly, it does not happen consistently.
- 32. Mr Clarke: Millburn Primary School has been cited twice as an exemplar. I am not trying to create friction but I would rather that we, as a Committee, had an opportunity to discuss some of the things that we heard last week, rather than saying that everything is perfect. On the surface, the presentation was excellent, but we have not had time to drill into some of that. I may have one view on some of it and the reports may say something different. Chair, I am not trying to take away from what you or John said about Millburn, but I do not know that everything is entirely as it was portrayed last week. I am a wee bit sceptical about some of it. As a Committee, we need time to discuss that before we come to a conclusion about whether we support everything.
- 33. Mr Sweeney mentioned Every School a Good School. That was a great catchphrase. I am straying slightly from the report, and I know you will soon pull me into line, Chairperson. That was a strapline, but there are schools that are good schools and the Department is destroying them. I want you to bear that in mind. I know that we are talking about attendance, but that was merely a strapline and a headline-grabber. We have schools in all our constituencies that are good schools but are not getting the support from the education service.

I will bring that back to what we are supposed to be talking about today. Why are the schools not working with your service to identify problems, and why is the education welfare team not working with the schools to try to identify the problems? It strikes me that the two things are disjointed and, the sooner they are fixed, the sooner we will identify the problems.

- 34. An interesting statistic is that unauthorised absence has grown from 27% to 33%. I do not know, Mr Sweeney, that we can wait 18 months. The statistics in the report go back to 2011. If we wait another 18 months, it will have a detrimental effect on young people in education today.
- 35. John's point was well made. One thing that the Committee is united on was the visit to Magilligan prison and the outcomes from that prison. However, the statistics that John Dallat talked about are sad. I would like to think that the majority of our children are going to our schools to get educated, not to come out the other end to go to prison to get educated.
- 36. **Mr Girvan**: What is the permanent secretary's role in this? I appreciate that that is your position, Paul. We are dealing with spend. What if any other Department was wasting £22 million? The report states that it was a loss. Funding is received for pupils who are supposed to be in school, but, because of a lack of follow-up, they are not. We have an unauthorised absence rate of exactly double that in primary and secondary schools in England. They are not all dealing with areas of worse deprivation.
- 37. In the Department, policy may be being made and not always implemented. We are all great at producing plans and programmes to deal with issues. What measures are being taken to ensure that we have consistency between one school that has good practice and a neighbouring school that is not working? You mentioned leaders in schools I prefer to call them principals who are probably there because it is a job as opposed to a profession. There are some people in education who should

not be. For them, it is a job and nothing else. They are not in it because they love to work with and teach young people. I am not putting everybody into that category because there are some wonderful examples of those who go the second mile and, because they understand children and young people, they can get them to go the second mile. What mechanisms are in place to ensure that those sorts of people are attracted into education, opposed to those who just want to get a salary?

- 38. **Mr Sweeney**: Chair, shall I come back on that at this stage, or would you prefer to go round the members?
- 39. **Mr Girvan**: I might want to come back on that.
- 40. **The Chairperson**: Quite a few members want to ask questions.
- 41. **Mr McQuillan**: Mine is a very simple question. It was asked by John, and again by Trevor. It has been 10 years since the previous PAC report. We have heard that there is now a matter of urgency after looking at this one; you are going to have it turned around in 18 months. What have you been doing for the past 10 years? Why is there so much urgency only now?
- 42. Mr Rogers: I agree on that point. There seems to be a big disconnect between policy and reality. Paul talked about school leadership. You said in 2009 that you were getting behind the whole area of school leadership. When you look at the last year's Education and Training Inspectorate (ETI) annual report, where was the major weakness? It was in school leadership. You do not just fix school leadership through a professional qualification for headship (POH) or something like that. It is a much more complex process than that. Why are we so far behind in developing school leadership? As Paul said, every good teacher does not make a good leader.
- 43. **Mr McKay**: The report is on pupil attendance, but we find that we end up discussing a wider array of educational matters, as we did in the Adjournment debate yesterday evening. I was going

to make a similar point to Seán's about leadership. Leadership is absolutely crucial. I have been to many schools where the principal has changed; the new principal brings a breath of fresh air and the whole school changes. That shows what can be done. What focus is the Department and the boards putting on leadership training and ensuring that principals are held to account on delivery?

- 44. A lot of this comes down to putting your resources where the need is. Obviously, there is a clear correlation between those from low socio-economic backgrounds and attendance figures. I always compare the figures in Ballymena town with the wards that people are reared in and what school they go to in the town. The same applies to school attendance. It is quite clear what a lot of the problems are. Schools can get to a certain point in what they can do, but there is an onus on the community and on the parents. A lot of the good case studies that we see concern schools where the principals and teachers are pulling the parents into the school, because a lot of parents still leave their children off at the school gate and leave the job to the teachers. We need a more holistic approach. I do not know what type of strategy is in place to ensure that parents are more involved with the school. How do we build relationships between parents and teachers, other than going to the occasional parentteacher association (PTA) meeting?
- 45. **Mr Copeland**: I have two small points, one of which may be anecdotal. I remember many years ago, in my innocence, asking the chief executive of the Belfast Education and Library board not the current one; the previous one what his primary legal responsibility was. I fully expected a reply that it was to ensure that school buildings were clean and properly built, that teachers taught properly and that children got an education. He told me that his primary legal responsibility was to live within budget. That set an alarm bell ringing.
- 46. The issue that I have with some of this stuff is that we have children who

- are not attending school. That can be because they are choosing not to go, because someone is not giving them a reason for going, or it can be that those who are legally charged with sending them to school and taking them to school are not doing it. Those are three very separate issues. Are there any indications or graphs that show correlations between levels of non-attendance, which, most probably, according to the report, are highest among families on a low income and the teachers in those schools? In other words, is there a malaise that affects not only the pupil or student body, if that is the right term, but the teaching body? The difficulties that many of those kids take into the school are rooted in the home. In my view, the school has an even more difficult task with those children. On the back of that. I have to say that, in a certain disused school in east Belfast — I think that it had 68 pupils when it closed — there is now a very enthusiastic gentleman who attracts almost 150 kids, six nights a week, to learn. They do not know that they are learning; it is done through a slightly different process.
- 47. "Unauthorised" is not a term that I like for a non-attending pupil. There are only two types of behaviour: acceptable and unacceptable. The word "unauthorised" maybe gives the wrong connotation. Are we sure that, in examining the causes rather than gathering the statistics gathering the statistics ain't no good; we have to understand what the causes are and then address them we are aware of the sickness levels among staff in schools where the sickness level among pupils, which seems to be the biggest single contributor, is highest?
- 48. **Mr Hussey**: I have to say that, from the start of this, I have not been impressed with what I have heard. As Adrian pointed out, 2004 was quite a while ago; 10 years ago. We seem to have gone no further from 2004. We talked about parents, teachers, governors and the boards. Not once did we mention pupils. Not once did we mention perhaps talking to pupils.

- 49. My father died when I was 13. When I was 13, I was not interested in going to school. I went — if I did not go, my mother would have skinned me alive — but I did not learn because I did not participate. Looking back now, I can see exactly why I did not participate: I was not interested. I was a 13-year-old boy. I had lost my father, and nobody asked me. I left school with three O levels to my name. I know why that was. I did not really start to work at school until I went to the technical college. In fact, I did not really start to work in education until I was 44 and did my degree. I know what it is like.
- 50. Pupil attendance is a major issue.

 We have to look at how education is delivered. We have to look at various schools and at some of the buildings.

 I declare an interest as a governor of Omagh High School. The school is falling down around them, yet it got one of the best reports from the Department of Education that any school has had.

 Why? Because the staff are good and are prepared to teach, and the children are learning. It is as simple as that: they are learning.
- 51. The other point, as was made by Daithí, is around whether it is a town or rural issue. All that must be taken into account. We also have an issue here relating to Travellers. That is a separate issue, but it is quite clear that, if they are Travellers, that is what they do; the family will travel and, therefore, they will move on. Yet nobody seems to have taken that on board or asked this: why do we not find out where they are going and sort that out as well? There are a lot of issue there and, I am sure, a lot of issues around rural versus urban. Spuds have to be picked. What is more important, lifting the spuds or going to school? That goes right back 30, 40 or 50 years. That was always the way.
- 52. As I said, I am very disappointed with all that we have heard. The figures were wrong at the start, so you got your homework wrong before you started. If you did that at school, you would have been kept back. We are told that we have to wait 12 months to 18 months.

- I agree totally with Trevor; 12 months to 18 months is nonsense. This has to be worked on now to be moved forward. We have already wasted 10 years.
- 53. **The Chairperson**: Thank you, members. Before I allow Mr Sweeney in, I want to remind members that, although there will be a difference of opinion around school policy, the focus today is solely on pupil attendance. We do not want to stray into any other area.
- Mr Dallat: Chairperson, maybe before Mr Sweeney comes back on those questions, I think that, on the issue of leadership, raised by Seán and followed up by others, it would be very valuable to hear what in the strategy will bring forward a different type of teacher in a leadership role and what kind of testing will be in place to ensure that the person is not applying just for a job but wants to enter a vocation and has the kind of commitment that we saw in Millburn. We know fine well that it was in Magilligan jail, and it is in other schools as well.
- 55. That kind of leadership does not require somebody to sit all day tracking roll books. In fact, the children told us that they do not want to miss school. They would not want to miss it. Where is that? I know, traditionally, what happened in the past. Teachers were glad when disruptive pupils stayed at home because they thought that they got on with the ones who wanted to learn, but that is how we filled our jails and that is how we left people with no skills and unemployed. That is how we created the divided society that we live in, so obviously the strategy that you are going to tell us about now should encompass those concerns that have been expressed by other members as well as me.
- 56. **Mr Sweeney**: Chair, shall I respond now to some of those points?
- 57. **The Chairperson**: Yes.
- 58. **Mr Sweeney**: Obviously, there is a range of issues there. If you just take school leadership alone, you could spend a whole session on that, so I will try to cover as many areas as I possibly can.

Rather than dominate the evidence session, I will speak about the role of the Education Welfare Service and the role of the education and library boards, and, if members want to delve into some of the specific detail around some of our policy areas, Caroline will be happy to help there.

- 59. **The Chairperson**: Absolutely, and that will happen after you respond.
- 60. **Mr Sweeney**: The idea of the Department of Education destroying schools is something that I do not recognise, nor that it does not sufficiently support schools. However, if there is evidence of that, please tell me, and I will be more than happy to deal with it.
- 61. Remarks were made about people approaching their professional task in education as just another job. Over the decades, I have worked in a number of Departments in the Northern Ireland Civil Service, and I can say that the professionalism and the passion that I experience in the Department of Education towards education has been most impressive. I want to put on the record that it is not just another job.
- 62. **Mr Girvan**: That might well be on many occasions, but it just takes one or two bad apples to destroy a whole thing.
 One bad leader can destroy a whole school.
- 63. **Mr Sweeney**: I am going to come to leadership, but I thought that I needed to make that specific remark about the remarks that were made about the Department of Education and the officials who work there. I know that that professionalism and passion is exhibited across the education and library boards as well.
- 64. When I get the opportunity to outline what we have been doing over the past 10 years, because I think that the members have wrongly got the impression that we have been sitting on our hands, I want to be given the opportunity to debunk that idea. However, it is important to dwell, first, on the remark about 'Every School a Good School' being a strapline. The

- reality is that we spent nearly two years talking to all the key people in education before we formulated that strategy. We consulted on it, and it has subsequently been recognised as being a really sound document. It was initiated in 2009, but, from my point of view, it is time now to look at it again. We should never sit on our hands and assume, as one of the members said, that things will self-implement, so there is an opportunity to revisit Every School a Good School. However, it has been a game-changer, I believe, in giving primacy to the leaders the principals in the schools.
- 65. As for the remarks about the unauthorised absence, yes, this is a very serious issue. On the face of it, it would appear that we have twice the rate of unauthorised absence than would be the case in England. There are a number of reasons for that and, if members want to delve into that, Caroline will do so in some detail.
- 66. Before I outline what we have been doing for the past 10 years, I will talk about school leadership, because I think that it is a common theme coming through. Such is the importance that the Minister attaches to issues such as school leadership and attainment that he recently tasked me to meet the 30 area learning communities across the region. Between the end of September and early January, I had the privilege of meeting all the post-primary principals in clusters of 30 groups, and it is remarkable how much that common theme about leadership was coming through. All of them consistently told me that, in their professional experience, there has never been a more challenging time to be a school principal or leader than now. Some of the evidence that is emerging, particularly in the postprimary sector, shows that the number of applicants for posts is worryingly low.
- 67. When I specifically asked the profession what more the Department needs to do to support leadership, they told me that newly qualified principals in particular feel wholly unsupported and on their own. They need more mentoring support from people who are in post or who have

- just recently retired. There were mixed views about the PQH one of the members mentioned that and about the masters programme.
- 68. The most insightful experience that I had came when the leaders said that we should empower them to develop leadership in their profession. We have some excellent examples. There is an issue of scale and, if a school is large enough, it can become a learning community in itself and generate leadership. There was tremendous insight as a result of that experience. and the Department is giving serious thought to what additional steps it needs to take. There is no doubt about it: if there is one thing that can bring about change and a real turnaround in a school it is the right level of leadership. We need to ensure that we get that.
- I want to flag up a number of areas to 69. address the point that we have done nothing over the past 10 years, but I do not want to give the impression that we are just ticking boxes. First, there was the issue around data. From 2007-08, the Department has produced an annual census of all schools, which details, on a school-by-school and a constituency basis, the overall rate of absence. So, every Member can drop into their constituency, draw out any school and see its rate of overall absence. That is published by the Department and is professionally pulled together by NISRA.
- 70. There were also other elements to tackling absence. We issued a number of circulars over the past number of years that have helped to perfect our data collection, and I believe that we are in a very strong place as far as data collection is concerned. We also commissioned a major piece of research by RSM McClure Watters to look at tackling absence, particularly in schools that are under stress. As a result of that, we were able to publish guidance in June last year that set out good practice and required schools to develop a strategy for tackling absence. Further to that, since 2010, every school has been required to produce an annual school development plan.

- Those plans roll forward for three years and are submitted, in the first instance, to the education and library boards. From 2010, we have required schools to factor a strategy for tackling absence into their school development plans.
- 71. I will move on. The curriculum has been a very important focus in all of this. Sadly, in the past, and particularly for some pupils who were coming towards the end of their career, the curriculum was not perceived to be as relevant as it might be. However, in 2007, we revised the curriculum and, since then, have put a great deal more focus on vocational training and a much more pronounced role for further education. So, if you like, there are now more reasons to stay at school.
- 72. I will recap. We have taken a number of steps. We have focused on a number of very specific groups — again, we can go into detail — such as newcomers, looked-after children and school-age mothers, and some good results have been achieved. For example, the attendance of Travellers has gone up by 6% in primary school and 5% in postprimary school, and we have had a 2% increase in the attendance of lookedafter children. I believe that we are collaborating with all the key agencies, organisations and Departments, and that we have all the component parts to approach the issue in a strategic manner. What we now need to do is give it more impetus, be more explicit about attendance and marshal it into a strategy that will hopefully identify the additional steps that we now need to take to make sure that we start to get the figures down.
- 73. **The Chairperson**: On that point, Mr Sweeney, do you agree that it is disjointed between the Department and the ELBs around all that?
- 74. **Mr Sweeney**: Do you mean around managing attendance?
- 75. **The Chairperson**: Yes, and the data system around it. Is that what I am hearing?
- 76. **Mr Sweeney**: I think Clare is keen to —

- 77. Dr Clare Mangan (Belfast Education & **Library Board)**: Different data systems are utilised. Mr Sweeney referred to the Northern Ireland statistics that are produced on school attendance across the Province. Those are available to schools, and the education and library boards give consideration to them. There is also the school-based data on attendance that is collected by individual schools through a module that is part of the C2k framework. Separate from that, there are the information management systems in the education and library boards that relate specifically to the referrals that are made to the Education Welfare Service. So, different data sets are available to assist with the collection of different types of information about aspects of overall school attendance and, more specifically, those parts of the school population for which more difficulties have been identified.
- 78. **Mr McQuillan:** Mr Sweeney, you told us about what you have done for the past 10 years, but the furthest that you went back was 2007. So, you did nothing for three years after the report was published.
- 79. You did not mention doing any work with parents who may have had a bad experience at school and do not see it as an important part of their life. That is passed to the next generation and maybe even the next generation. Have you done any work on that side of things?
- 80. **Mr Sweeney**: I think that the report came out in November 2004. In 2005, we took the earliest opportunity to be explicit about attendance in our regulations for school development plans.
- 81. One of the most important initiatives that we undertook was setting up the extended-schools programme in 2006. That is targeted at those schools in the most disadvantaged areas, and about 500 schools receive about £12·5 million. Importantly, central to that programme is the involvement of parents and the community, and nearly 40% of those schools have breakfast clubs. That allows us to get the holistic

- approach that someone mentioned earlier and involve the community and parents in things like breakfast clubs or homework clubs after school. When you went to Millburn Primary School, you saw examples of that and, if not once a term, at least once a year, Mr Platt involves grandparents and parents in a bespoke breakfast club.
- 82. The extended-schools programme that was introduced in 2006 and developed since has been an important method by which we have reached out to the community and to the parents. More recently, we asked schools to come together in clusters where they have good practice in tackling disadvantage and attendance and, in particular, in involving parents. We did not sit on our hands but have taken a range of opportunities to intervene.
- 83. The term "strapline" has been used this afternoon, and our strapline has been more about achievement, but, of course, inextricably linked to achievement is attendance. Even the best teacher in the world cannot achieve for a pupil if there is irregular or persistently poor attendance.
- 84. If we have given the impression that we have not done enough, I think that the fault has been the relentless focus on achievement. However, we also need to be more explicit about targeting attendance and its criticality. We need to be more to the fore with that and more pronounced in stressing its criticality.
- 85. **The Chairperson**: Absolutely. If you do not have attendance, you do not get achievement.
- 86. Mrs Caroline Gillan (Department of Education): I want to add to that. In addition to the extended-schools programme and its engagement with parents to combat the negative cycle that you referred to, there is the Sure Start programme that focuses on preschool children. That is very much about engaging with children and their families in areas such as lifestyle, health and education. A lot of that is about breaking the negative cycle

- and encouraging good behaviours and positive lifestyles early on. That is complementary to the later extended schools.
- 87. The other thing is the more recent Education Works campaign. The Minister kicked that off, I believe, in 2011, and that was in recognition of the need to speak to parents and emphasise the value of education and encourage parents to get involved in children's education. In the first two tranches, that focused on younger children.

 As we move forward, we will focus on older children towards GCSE age, because there is also a trend by which attendance tends to fall off after years 8 and 9.
- 88. **Mr McQuillan**: The Sure Start programme is working, and John and I saw an example of that in our constituency in Harpur's Hill one Friday, but there was a problem with the funding. They were never sure what funding they were getting from one year to the next. If Sure Start is to work, more of a foundation needs to be put in place so that they know from year to year that they will have that funding, that it is available and when it is available. However, it is working in the community.
- 89. **Mrs Gillan**: It is valuable work.
- 90. **The Chairperson**: A number of members want to come in with supplementary questions. I ask them to keep them brief.
- 91. Mr Clarke: Mr Sweeney, the sooner we get down to questions and get you off your script, the better, because you have said in terms of the 2004 report. We are now in 2014, and you are citing all the wonderful examples. It is lost in the detail of what you are trying to say because it sounds as if you are working from a script. If what you have done since 2007 is so good, why is it still failing? You did not answer my question about the unauthorised absences. Between 2007 and 2011, they increased by 5%. When will you realise that whatever you implemented in 2007 did not work? When will you implement

- something that does work and not wait 10 years to come back to it?
- 92. **The Chairperson**: When you left the room, he touched on unauthorised absences.
- 93. Mr Clarke: Sorry. I apologise for that.
- 94. **Mr McKay**: When you were on your own unauthorised absence. [Laughter.]
- 95. **Mr Sweeney**: I did not get the first sentence of your question.
- 96. **Mr Clarke**: Which bit? The bit about you being on your script or when we have got you off your script?
- 97. **Mr Sweeney**: The script was about the middle. I did not get the first bit, but I will attempt to respond to your points.
- 98. Mr Clarke: You are trying to put yourself on a pedestal, through your script, because of what you have done since 2007. You accepted the report even though you should not have accepted it because it was wrong. That was your own failure. From 2007 to 2011, unauthorised absences increased from 27% to 33%. That is obviously failing. So, what you implemented in 2007 does not work. When will you recognise that whatever you tried to do did not work? Will you revisit it much sooner to make it work? Hopefully, you will not leave it for 10 years before you go back to it.
- 99. **Mr Sweeney**: I do not think that the report is wrong. There was a particular set of data in the report that I corrected today. It is my job professionally to do that.
- 100. **Mr Clarke**: You should have done it when you first saw the report.
- 101. **Mr Sweeney**: Ideally, yes, but I drew it to members' attention when I became aware of it.
- 102. You talked about failing, and I do not think it is helpful to get into that sort of discussion about what are very complex issues. With the report itself, there is no magic bullet. When you focus on unauthorised absence, we are talking about young people who have, in very many cases, multiple behavioural,

social and cultural difficulties. So. the Department will do its level best. in conjunction with boards, schools, parents and communities, to tackle that. I do not want to give the impression this afternoon that there is some kind of magic bullet and that there is one single step that I can take now that will dramatically change that figure. The report is predicated on the work that Mr Taylor has been doing, and he has indicated that the focus should be more on overall attendance. I am not taking comfort from that but am just making an empirical statement that, although we are well out of kilter on unauthorised absence when you compare Northern Ireland with England, the reality is that, when you look at the overall performance on absence, you see that we are not dramatically out of kilter. I acknowledge that we need to do more, and I am completely openminded about what additional steps we need to take. However, I would be false if I gave the impression this afternoon that there was a magic bullet or just one policy instrument that you just pull and, magically, all those complex issues disappear. They do not. This is about relentless attention to leadership in schools, involving the community, looking at data, relentlessly setting realistic targets and holding people such as me and people in the boards to account.

103. Mr Dallat: Chairperson, thanks for the opportunity to come back again. Sometimes it is not helpful to be about too long, but homework clubs and breakfast clubs are not rocket science. They have been about for years. Parental connections with schools — I saw some of the best examples of that in Malawi in central Africa. The parents, if they were still alive, were there to support the school, but let us get back to the question. This computer system — C2k — is a wonderful invention, but the information is not available to the welfare service. What is the point in having a computer if it does not talk to anybody?

- 104. **Mr Sweeney**: I will shortly ask Clare to deal with C2k. Again, to say to the member —
- 105. **Mr Dallat:** I am really not interested in the computer, because we discovered at Millburn that it is not the computers that are bringing the pupils into the school. What are you doing with the information that is on these computers to alert the welfare service that there may be problems in the home, and there may be issues that need to be sorted out? It is not happening, according to this report.
- 106. Dr Mangan: Perhaps I can assist with that particular question. The C2k system is a school-based system, and there is a module on the system that is related to recording pupil absence. The system was introduced around the mid-2000s and has been used by schools to provide more accurate recording of absence in respect of am and pm and other breakdowns associated with it. The system is set up ostensibly as a school-based system. Education welfare officers (EWOs) access that system when they go into the school, because the data on that system is owned by the school. The school is the data owner. Therefore, the school needs to give permission to the EWOs to use that data.
- 107. The EWOs routinely access that data through various SIMs, inquiries and investigations that take place. One of the issues that has been raised in the report and is perhaps what you are referencing is that it might be helpful to establish means by which the education welfare officers could access the information without necessarily going into the school.
- 108. A pilot was done a few years ago, taking a very small sample of schools to identify some of the technical issues that required redress in order for EWOs to access the system from their offices. That coincided with the transformation of the C2k system in schools as a whole, which commenced around 2012. Further to recent engagement with C2k, its professional opinion is that we would need to recommence a pilot across the five boards in relation to

EWO access from offices to ensure that the arrangements that need to facilitate optimum utilisation of it can be provided to all EWOs. So, the intention is that the pilot will commence in September 2014, with the aim of identifying what other technical issues may impact on EWOs accessing that information from their offices.

- 109. **Mr Dallat**: The road is paved with good intentions, and we have heard all talking about a strategy. I hate to ask the question, but I assume that this is not in the strategy?
- data collection and optimising the use of technology has been part of our strategic response to date but will, undoubtedly, be part of a strategic way forward. What Clare has outlined is that we are hopeful, as we move forward, that we can make better use of the technology that is available to us through that platform that is C2k.
- 111. **Mr Dallat**: But from what I hear, we are not even sure that you can share that information. It is certainly not available off-site. It belongs to the school. We know from our own research that schools have different approaches to it. Some take it seriously and others are not taking it seriously at all. Where do the warning lights come on in that computer to say that some poor child is in danger of going through the net?
- 112. Ms Alex Barr (Southern Education and Library Board): Would it be helpful if I explained how an EWO works within the system?
- 113. **Mr Dallat**: Anything would be helpful to solve the problem.
- 114. **The Chairperson**: Before you start, Alex, I should just say that the EWOs do not look good coming out of the report. It is not very good reading about the Education Welfare Service.
- 115. **Ms Barr**: If I may explain how the system works. Each school has a contact education welfare officer, and each school has a service level agreement with each education and library board.

The service level agreement is set up for individual schools. In other words, if schools have a lot of attendance issues, they will get a lot more input from EWOs than for example, Millburn, where they have few attendance issues and they operate on a need-to basis with the school. We work on a referral system. In other words, the school is expected to do the initial intervention with the pupil's attendance, because the pupil is enrolled in that school. When that intervention fails, we expect the school, if the attendance goes down to 85%, to refer it to us. The EWO will then take up the case and work it. When attendance improves again, the case will be closed.

- 116. In order to make sure that schools do not omit referring any pupils, we do a termly audit in the school, involving the EWO going through the C2k system, identifying any pupil whose attendance is below 85% and talking to the contact person in the school about the attendance. At that point, if the EWO is satisfied with the reason given by the school — ie if the pupil has had a lot of flu, has a broken leg or something like that — we say that that is fine and we are happy enough with that. However, if the school has no satisfactory reason for the pupil's attendance being below 85%, we will suggest that the school makes a referral to the Education Welfare Service.
- 117. **The Chairperson**: Thank you, Ms Barr. I am just conscious that members may be straying into people's area of questioning. A number of members have indicated that they want to make a comment, but, if it is their area of question, are you happy enough to hold it, or does anybody want to come in at this point in time?
- 118. **Mr Copeland**: I am not sure that what I am going to say has been covered at all. In the area that I represent, East Belfast, we have some of the best schools and some of the worst schools, with four of the poorest and four of the wealthiest wards side by side and 3,553 children living in poverty. Poverty is a moot word. Are we sure that we are not concentrating on establishing the

- number of children who do not go to school and losing the important thing, which is why they do not go to school and what can be done to persuade or require them to go to school?
- 119. Children, in many cases, are a potential source of income because of the nature of the benefits system, for example. There is barely a day in the week when I do not see some new syndrome, case or symptoms that indicate that a child might be entitled to disability living allowance, for example. I am not saying there is not a need, because there is a financial need, but I believe that, in some cases, children, by their behaviour and non-attendance, are actually acting out a subplot in a different piece of drama.
- 120. I have seen first- and second-year children at school gates drinking Boost and other energy drinks. The reason for that is that they will go berserk for about three or four hours in school and then present with a scenario of cases. I am just talking straight, because there is no point in coming here and beating around the bush. Do you feel that the current system of data adequately addresses what the symptoms are, what the cause is and whether or not they are real, and recognises that the child who does not go to school, in many cases, is the victim? Are we satisfied with the way we go about assessing? You can collect data until you are blue in the face, but unless you put it to some good, useful purpose, it does not count for diddly-squat. That is just being quite frank. Are we sure that we are doing everything possible to identify who is responsible for the child not attending school and making sure, by hook or by crook, that that changes? This has become the second or borderline third generation. If I had not gone to school, we had a thing called the beat man, and he would have got the policeman and then your parents would have been in trouble. My recollection is that it did not happen on the same scale, and now it is almost as if going to school is a self-selective choice.
- 121. **The Chairperson**: Before I let you back in again, I think that one or two

- members also wanted to make a comment on that point. Daithí, did you want to say something on Michael's point?
- 122. **Mr McKay**: It is on a separate point.
- 123. **The Chairperson**: OK. Paul, did you want to come in on that point?
- Mr Girvan: It was really to go back to what we were dealing with previously about the accountability issue and the fact that a figure was given. How accurate that figure is something that needs to be delved into: the loss of money allocated to schools on their attendance or the number of pupils that are to attend. In the previous report from 2004 the figure worked out at a cost of £12 million roughly, and that has increased to £22 million a year that is lost due to children's non-attendance.
- 125. We hear about programmes that are mentioned as a way of dealing with issues, and the extended schools programme and all of that, and the £12.5 million being allocated to that, but what measures are being put in place to see that those benchmarking additional moneys are actually bringing back value? It does not appear to be adding to it, because there is a clear correlation between attendance and educational performance. It is very clear in this report that schools where children are attending have better results by far than schools where there is or appears to be no focus on ensuring that attendance is a key factor. I want to see how we can have a uniform approach.
- 126. You can have a school a mile from another school where there is a 10% difference in attendance records in one year, even though there is only a mile difference. Both of them are coming from a catchment area of similar social backgrounds, yet you can see that difference. When can we see that consistency coming across the board? If it is supposed to be dealt with on that basis, it is not presenting in that way. I still bring that back to the leaders within those schools as not having some other aspect. I know that you are very quick

- to try to defend some of them, but I have seen teachers who I believe should never have been teachers because they turn children off, they humiliate them and they want to make them feel that size as opposed to feeling important. How to you deal with that?
- 127. **Mr Sweeney**: Chair, I want to apologise to the member first because I did not come back on the £22 million, so, can I take the opportunity now just to mention that?
- 128. The Chairperson: Yes.
- 129. **Mr Sweeney**: The report in the annexe sets out the methodology by which the figure of £22 million is ascertained.
- 130. Mr Girvan: It might be more.
- 131. Mr Sweeney: Well, if you just use the unauthorised absence and extrapolate from that, then £3,000 per pupil in a primary and £4,000 per pupil in the post-primary. These figures are approximate, but when you add that up, it is £22 million. Now, is that a waste of money? Is it a shameful waste of money by the Department? Should the accounting officer be concerned about this? The sad thing is that the opportunity cost is to the pupil. It is the pupil and, by extension the parents condoning the child not going to school, who is losing out there. As far as the education is concerned, it is a sunk cost anyway, so the opportunity cost is at the pupil level.
- 132. Getting back to Mr Copeland's point —
- 133. **Mr Girvan**: Before moving off that, if a school has an attendance record of, say, below 84% or 85%, then, conversely, if they believe that they were going to have their budget hit by a margin that was below what the average should have been, they would take measures to address the attendance within that school. If they thought that it was going to hit their budget and that therefore they thought that they were going to have to let teachers go or do something else, then I think that there would be more of a focus on it.

- 134. Mr Sweenev: I will come back to that. but, on Mr Copeland's point, let me just state the obvious. There is sadly a very direct correlation between levels of absence and schools that are in stressful situations. As you know, in extremis, if the inspectorate assesses a school and the school finds that it needs special intervention, it goes into formal intervention. So, if you take that benchmark of 85% and below, sadly, there is a very consistent — this is the point about the relevancy of data — clear correlation between high levels of absence and high levels of educational underachievement, and a direct correlation between a number of schools that are in formal intervention that have high levels of absence. With regard to the profile of schools that Mr Copeland spoke of, there are a number of schools. So, for example, if I were to target tonight, 37 post-primary schools and five primary schools have attendance records of below 90%. Let us start there.
- 135. In respect of the remarks about teachers, I do not think that I am in a position this afternoon to comment on that. Obviously the profession does its level best to have a performance regime in place and to identify where teachers are underperforming so that they are given the right support.
- 136. In respect of the point that you made about a school being in close proximity to another, yes, part of that is about leadership. Of that there is no doubt, but, likewise, you need to look at the profile of the school. One school might have a very low level of special educational needs or a very low level of free school meals entitlement, which is a proxy for disadvantage, whereas the characteristics of another school might be dramatically different. So, you have to see every school in its own context. As the report itself says, we need to be flexible and pragmatic about how we respond. Clare, do you want to make a point about the data?
- 137. **Dr Mangan:** My point is that we can talk about attendance in general, but it is important to bear in mind that children

- are at school for what is ostensibly 12 years of compulsory education. The strategies that need to be applied throughout those 12 years to address attendance need to be different. One of the core issues is that in primary data, the attendance of children in years 1 and 2 tends to be a lot lower than children in years 3, 4, 5 and 6. You have to ask the question, "Why?" One of the key things that we have to bear in mind is that children need parents to bring them to school. If parents have issues about arriving at school late or not arriving at school at all, it immediately impacts on the attendance of very young children. In doing so, very young children then acquire habits and behaviours associated with going to school or not going to school that are enforced and reinforced at an early age.
- 138. What I am really trying to emphasise is that as we get into the detail of what we need to do across the 12 years of compulsory education, the data provides us with evidence that whilst we might be thinking overall that there is less of an issue in primary, my analysis of the data is that there are issues in primary that require redress, but they are perhaps masked by the fact that the overall attendance in primary is deemed to be better than post-primary, yet I believe that it will require very specific approaches and interventions. Likewise, at post-primary level, across schools, the schools that I am regularly in emphasise the fact that attendance is important, but it is also about the engagement and participation of the young person in education. The more adjustments that schools make, not just in terms of the curriculum but in terms of the sense of creating the school as a community, the culture and ethos of the school as a welcoming one for the young person and other forms of support for young people who have difficulties, the more likely you are to get pupils to attend. What I am really saying is that if we are going to focus on how we can improve things, we need to be developmentally sensitive to the approaches that are required as

- we move our way through the school system.
- 139. **The Chairperson**: I know that Ross and Daithí are looking in, and Seán and Paul had indicated earlier, but I am conscious of time. We have our lines of questioning in front of us, and some members may have strayed into that. So, if it is OK and members are content Ross, is there something that is pressing?
- 140. **Mr Hussey**: I want to ask specifically about the Education Welfare Service. I want a point of clarity because of the way this is worded:
 - "A school can make a referral to EWS".
- 141. It does not appear to be compulsory. EWS seems to be able to go in and look for this or whatever, but there is no direct link. I find it very strange that in these days of computers we cannot have a link or that a teacher cannot, whenever they see a certain trend, email somebody to warn them or whatever. When you see this 15%, and I am sure this has been mentioned before, that could mean up to 28 days a year missing from school. There is something not right.
- 142. I want clarification. The report states that schools can make a referral. Can they or must they? If they do not, there is something not right. At what point does the 85% become 85%? In the first term, you could have eight weeks, and then that could be 12 days absent. So, at what point does the referral come in?
- 143. You also made the comment that someone could have continual flu. If a child continually had the flu, I would be worried about their health as well. If it is 15%, there is something not right, and if a child is continually ill, there is something not right. If they had a broken leg, the school would make some form of compensation to get them in, even should they have to carry them in. That this is optional, I find very strange.
- 144. **Mr McQuillan**: I think that the 15% point at which it is triggered is far too high. The trigger should be a lot sooner. Can I have your thoughts on that, Alex?

- 145. **Ms Barr**: The figure was agreed some years ago as one that would be manageable, and it is in common with the figures that are used in England.
- 146. **Mrs Gillan**: It is also useful to add that the actual arrangements are that the school should refer where there is a concern or the 85%, so certainly —
- 147. **Mr McQuillan**: Surely the school is well aware of the trend before it gets to that target. You might see it every Tuesday or Wednesday that a child is not there, whatever the reason is, whether it is what they are doing on a Tuesday or a Wednesday or what their parents are doing on a Tuesday or a Wednesday.
- 148. **Mr Hussey**: If England is using the system and it is working for them but it is not working for us, you should increase it to maybe 90% to get the buyin and the intervention guicker.
- 149. **Mrs Gillan**: The interesting thing about England, and we mentioned it earlier, is that there is a very different culture over there which is very much sanctions-based, with schools or local authorities being able to issue fixed-penalty fines without recourse to the courts. If they are not paid, they are doubled, and eventually you move to prosecutions. There is a number of other things going on in the background in England over and above the use of education welfare.
- 150. **Mr Hussey**: That is in the news at the minute, with children being taken out of school to go on holidays because it is cheaper.
- 151. Mrs Gillan: Absolutely. Up until recently, and this affects some of the authorised/ unauthorised figures, principals in England had the ability to authorise term-time holidays of up to 10 days a year for special circumstances. Certainly, Charlie Taylor, the Government's advisor, found that principals tended to do that to avoid confrontation with parents. So, it was almost a given that they got 10 days' authorisation. That changed in September past, hence the publicity around the issue and parents being taken to court. That ability has been taken away from principals.

- 152. The position in Northern Ireland is as it is now in England, in that principals can only authorise school holidays in exceptional circumstances. Otherwise, they are unauthorised absences. So it will be interesting to see if the English figures for next year change. Regardless of that, the overall absence figures in England are ahead of ours to some degree.
- 153. **Mr Hussey**: Is any consideration being given to increasing that to 90% from 85%?
- 154. **Mr Sweeney**: Not actively, but obviously the deliberations of this group will be important.
- 155. **The Chairperson**: To go back to the Education Welfare Service, as I said earlier, the report does not make good reading around that, and there seems to be a degree of complacency. Do you agree with that, given that the Department funds the Education Welfare Service to the tune of £1·7 million? Is it delivering an effective service?
- 156. Mr Sweeney: I do not approach these Committees in a way that seeks to be defensive, but I do not recognise "complacency" as a term that I would use in relation to the inspectorate. The £1.7 million is a top-up that we give to the service. In total, overall, there is about £8.8 million going into the Education Welfare Service. It was evaluated by the inspectorate in 2002. There was a follow-up report in 2006. The inspectorate report was very positive about the contribution that the EWS was making in responding to and managing attendance, from preventative work right through to sanctions. So, Chair, I would not describe it as being complacent.
- 157. **The Chairperson**: Do you believe that the ETI has delivered or produced any report that offers any guidance at all in that area?
- 158. **Mr Sweeney**: It evaluated the effectiveness of the Education Welfare Service in 2002. Then, it did a follow-up report in 2006. I appreciate that that was some time back. That was the last time that the Education Welfare Service was evaluated.

- 159. **The Chairperson**: Obviously, there needs to be a more strategic approach to it from the ETI.
- 160. **Mr Sweeney**: Let me say that there is always scope in the Department, boards and any element of education for improvement. You start with that premise, right? You do not say, "This is perfect." However, the report has, as a result of our engaging in the Department and with the boards, challenged us to give more impetus to that work.
- 161. It might be helpful, Clare, if you outline the commitment that the five chief executives of the education and library boards are embarking upon specifically in response to the shortcomings that were identified in the report. Would you be happy enough, Chair, that we do that?
- 162. **The Chairperson**: Yes, absolutely. I think that the rationale for saying this is that I am just conscious that, in England in Wales, the education and training inspectorates have produced thematic reports in that area. I think that it would be key. Chris wants to come in on this.
- 163. **Mr Hazzard**: Paul, thanks for your answers so far. My question really relates to the ETI just to get a better grasp of the subject. To what extent does the ETI look at absenteeism as it goes along inspecting schools? Does it look at targets and outcomes in much detail? Does it offer advice?
- does a report, it focuses on a number of areas. Absenteeism is under that, if you like, heading of pastoral care: to what extent is the school over and above the pedagogy, the education, looking after the emotional well-being of the child? So, in that regard, if a school were triggering thresholds, the ETI would draw attention to that in its report.
- 165. The role of the district inspector is also important here. The district inspector is on the ground. He or she has a dedicated range of schools with which they work. So, there is proactivity there. I take Mr Hussey's point about whether thresholds are set at the right level. A district inspector could tell a school I

- am just being hypothetical here that, "I have noticed that you have dropped down from a credible performance of 93% five years ago. You are hitting 90%. You are in danger of going below 90%. What is happening?" So, there is a challenge function — albeit a relatively informal one — that take place right from the district inspector. Then, of course, when you get the full inspection report, there is a range of indicators. If there is a plummeting of performance on attendance, the inspector can draw attention to that, largely because the reason, as we know, can be directly related to a whole range of other issues.
- 166. **Mr Hazzard**: Yes; I will come to that later on the sharing of good practice. I think that the role of district inspectors is crucial to improvement. Is it not happening, then? In those areas where the figures are quite high, are the DIs not doing what they should be doing to help? It is innovative. I totally accept that there is no magic bullet here and that there is only so much that the Department and schools can actually do. However, is there something that DIs should do more of?
- 167. **Mr Sweeney**: Certainly, there are opportunities. On the ground, it might be appropriate to say, "Look, why don't you pair with a school that had a similar profile a number of years ago and has turned it around?" A large part of the report suggests, and rightly so, that we need to create greater networks where schools, particularly those that underperform, can come together and share experience. Now, you would bring in schools that are exemplars as well. In the first instance, the district inspector could draw attention to that. I would like to think that he or she would then say, "Can I suggest the following?", or, in addition to that, the school should be involved in a very serious discussion with the Education Welfare Service. So, there needs to be greater focus on prevention and early intervention. We need to do more of that. I accept that entirely.
- 168. **Mr Hazzard**: Finally, do you think we should embed the issues around

- absenteeism more in the inspection process?
- 169. Mr Sweeney: A good example of the relevance of the group is that, when we met last year and did literacy and numeracy, one of your core recommendations was that we should look at good practice and disseminate it. So the Department, subsequent to the PAC meeting last year, tasked the inspectorate to draw up best practice. In that case, the focus was around mathematics and English. The inspectorate went to schools that were exemplars in English and maths. We brought out a publication and now have disseminated that, so nearly 500 teachers have been proactively engaged with the inspectorate on that good practice guidance. The logic of this session is that we need to do something similar. We need to look at good practice, commend and acknowledge it and then disseminate it.
- 170. **The Chairperson**: Briefly, Seán, then Daithí.
- 171. **Mr Rogers**: It is a very small point. Paul, forgive me, but that highlights the disconnect between the Department and the ETI again. We heard this morning in our ETI inquiry in the Education Committee that the DI only has a total of 10 days per year to do all of his district inspection functions in addition to general inspection. As part of our inquiry, we met the DIs, and they are drawn in 10 different directions. They actually do not have time to do all of that. That is the big problem.
- 172. **Mr McKay**: I will keep it as short as I can. I just want to focus on the area of health for a moment. Obviously, there are a number of cases in schools where pupils have to be off for weeks at a time or a month at a time, and it can be very hard to catch up on the work again. It can lead to their whole educational year being ruined. What approach or strategy do schools have to deal with that? We are living in the age of Skype, and everybody is keeping up to speed with each other through the internet. I wonder if there are options there,

- whereby pupils can still engage with or listen in on classes when they are not able to attend the school.
- 173. I also think breakfast clubs are excellent. There is a relationship between how healthy you are, having a breakfast and your performance in education, your attention span and everything. Are we doing enough on breakfast clubs? Is there an opportunity to extend those further? It is not always down to your socioeconomic background. A child gets up in the morning, falls out of bed, falls into the car and falls out of the car and into the school without getting a breakfast or anything. I know of a number of cases like that. Are the Department and boards doing enough on breakfast clubs and also on safer routes to school? I know that Sustrans has put a focus on that area, because exercise in the morning certainly increases alertness and attention. As well as environmental and health impacts, it also affects education, so we should not just focus on strictly educational matters. It is much wider than that.
- 174. Dr Mangan: I will consider some of the areas. I will take the area of children who are absent from school for considerable periods. It is important to differentiate between the impact of a longer-term absence and that of short and frequent absences. It is generally thought that, with children who have a long-term absence, although it may appear to be more difficult and challenging to deal with, it is actually a discrete period of time between the last day they were in school and the first day that they return to school. In situations like that, if children are going to be off school for a period of time, the medical reports and medical recommendation [Inaudible.] which provide links between the school and home when the young person is at home and is well enough to access education. In some instances, work is being done through Illuminate in relation to other forms of support, predicated, of course, of the appropriate consents.

- 175. The bigger worry for us relates to pupils who have short and frequent absences, because those are the young people who dip in and dip out of school. They are less likely to get into what I would call a school routine. They are less familiar with schoolwork. They get part of a topic but not all the topic. They are the group that I consider to be most vulnerable and, in terms of their absences, most likely to have a negative impact on education work.
- 176. You raised the issue of healthy schools and things schools can do over and above breakfast clubs. In some schools, that would be reflected in canteen options, if the school has a canteen. It is also reflected in healthy-eating breaks and other things that are done in the school to promote the health and wellbeing of the person.
- 177. On the wider health and well-being agenda, a number of schools see themselves as being defined as mentally healthy schools, because there is a recognition that the attendance of teachers as well as the attendance of pupils is important in bringing stability and continuity to not only the quality of the teaching experience but the levels of engagement and attachment that children have with teachers. In a sense, training has been provided in some boards in relation to promoting mentally healthy schools.
- 178. Other work is generally done around promoting health and well-being as part of the wider school curriculum. That is being done at primary and post-primary level through counselling services and other forms of school-based support. As we move forward, we see the totality of need of the young person and recognise that various strands of specific and specialised supports need to be put in place to effect the best outcomes in terms of the particular needs of individuals.
- 179. **Mr McKay**: Is there going to be an increased resource towards those areas, given that there is increased recognition of the benefits of those breakfast clubs and so on? How does the Department

- measure the impact of those on educational performance?
- 180. **Dr Mangan**: I cannot comment on the resource. Indeed, some things that happen in schools can be resource-neutral. They do not always have to bring or cause additionality of funding. Some schools have banned fizzy drinks and taken other actions because they wanted to create a context where concentration enhanced focus on learning. Although we do not have strong data, we would have qualitative data that would indicate that the measures that have been put in place are effecting some change in pupil engagement at school.
- approximately £40 million, and 80,000 pupils are entitled to them. That will increase by 15,000 pupils. In terms of evaluating effectiveness, things like the extended schools programme were evaluated by the inspectorate and had a positive evaluation. Other programmes were recently put in place. The Minister announced a community-based fund of £2 million a year, which, again, is targeted at the most disadvantaged areas and at involving the community and parents in the life of a school.
- 182. We are flexible about how that money can be spent. There is a fair degree of flexibility about how a school can work with the community and parents. It may not necessarily be an extension of the breakfast club; there are a range of other interesting ideas coming through. Where possible, additional resources are being targeted at schools in the most challenging circumstances.
- 183. Mr Girvan: A term you used was "entitled" to free schools meals. Would it not be better to use the term "uptake" of free school meals? A number of people who are entitled to them do not necessarily apply for them. I know of one school where quite a few kids could be getting free school meals, but, because of a bit of pride in their family, there is a reluctance for them to even engage in that. That is greater in some areas than others, so I do not like using that term "entitled". I would say the

- uptake of free school meals, because there could be many who are entitled to them who do not take them.
- 184. **Dr Mangan**: There is an issue with entitlement and uptake, and the data that we have pertaining to that indicate that schools where there had been an issue with the gap between entitlement and uptake are having more constructive positive conversations with parents about it, not only from the point of view of the benefit to the young person but from the point of view that it has an impact on the funding for the school. The evidence is that, whilst there is still room for improvement, we can see some significant changes in uptake in areas and in schools that historically have not elected to avail themselves of it.
- 185. **Mr McKay**: There is an issue about stigma and stigmatisation around free school meals as well. Some schools have a card system so that you do not see free school meal entitlement. How is that being rolled out? Do schools have those kinds of systems to deal with that?
- 186. **Dr Mangan**: It depends on the school. Some schools now even have electronic systems that do not involve a card at all. It is becoming more covert, but it depends on the school.
- 187. Mr McKay: Are there still a lot of schools that give out the meal tickets?
- 188. **Dr Mangan**: It will still happen, but it happens less, particularly at post-primary level, as other systems come into place that are deemed to be more reliable and more pupil-sensitive.
- 189. **Mr McKay**: Do we have any idea of the scale of that?
- 190. **Dr Mangan**: I could not tell you today, but, if it is helpful, I could forward some information subsequently.
- 191. **The Chairperson**: I will bring members in to do their formal questioning. I do not want to scare you; I am conscious that a lot of members have already asked their questions. So, I can say that this end of the session may be brief, in case you

- are wondering whether we will keep you here for the rest of the day.
- 192. We are talking about early intervention to address levels of absenteeism, and one of the Programme for Government commitment programmes, Incredible Years, is a very good initiative. That is a parent and mentoring initiative that has developed a community base, and it involves the parents in a programme of working with the community and the school, understanding children's absence from school, what that is all about and how they can go forward with that. I am very conscious that the Department is running a number of good programmes through the Programme for Government. Somebody may want to touch on that later.
- 193. As I said, a lot of members have already asked their questions, so this session might be brief. The Deputy Chairperson will ask about progress on developing strategies to improve attendance. Alex and Adrian, you will touch on the role of the education welfare officers.
- 194. Mr McQuillan: I am sorted.
- 195. **The Chairperson**: Alex, what about you?
- 196. Mr Easton: I will just go ahead anyway.
- 197. **The Chairperson**: Seán, you have management of information systems.
- 198. Mr Rogers: I have a wee bit left.
- 199. **The Chairperson**: Daithí, your area is learning from good practice, and you touched on that as well, as did Chris. Michael, you will ask about socioeconomic issues, if you want to come back in.
- 200. Mr Copeland: I have not started yet.
- 201. **Mr Dallat**: This is timely, Chairperson, and I take your advice; I will be brief. My questions are about moving forward. This is not a criticism, but I did not detect the kind of passion that is required to solve a very serious problem. All the members of the Public Accounts Committee got caught up in this, because we are conscious that we are talking about individuals who will go on

- to have families and may pass on those terrible weaknesses in education to the next generation. We referred earlier to those who, unfortunately, ended up in prison, largely because they had no self-esteem, were patronised by druggies, paramilitaries and all kinds of people who gave them a kind of importance that the education system did not.
- 202. That said, the hearing has been very useful. Paul, the strategy that you have come up with suggests to me, and other members highlighted the fact, that the district inspectors, the education welfare officers and the leaders in the schools all need to be a team. My memory was that a welfare officer was almost an inconvenience. He went into a corner of an office somewhere with a briefcase and he spotted individuals: he or she did their best. However, this requires a lot more than that, Paul. It requires more than a computer sitting in a school that no one can get access to outside the school; it requires early alerts; it requires people going out into the homes where there is serious disadvantage, perhaps alcoholism or all sorts of illnesses. Is this strategy going to be different from what was promised in 2004? Is this very excellent publication going to be taken up seriously? Are we going to detect from the Department the kind of passion that we experienced in those schools that have bucked the system and have turned themselves around in the most disadvantaged areas? It is a plea more than a question. Is it going to happen?
- 203. **Mr Sweeney**: Do you want me to talk about the education welfare officer being an inconvenience in the corner?
- 204. **Ms Barr**: You are correct; that may have been the picture 20 years ago. It is certainly not the picture in schools nowadays with education welfare officers. Education welfare officers regularly meet teachers to discuss attendance issues, so they would not be seen as an inconvenience in the corner; they will be seen as a key part —
- 205. **Mr Dallat**: Sorry, Alex; your answer is helpful, and I am not disputing that.

- However, can a welfare officer feel passionate about this? Can he or she go banging on the door of the principal's office?
- 206. **Ms Barr**: Yes, they can make a nuisance of themselves.
- 207. **Mr Dallat**: And say, "While you are writing press statements about your achievements, little Jonny down there has not been at school for eight weeks." Can they do that, and do they have that authority?
- 208. **Ms Barr**: Yes, EWOs are very passionate about their job. They would not be doing it if they were not —
- 209. Mr Dallat: Good.
- 210. **Ms Barr**: because they are not paid as much as a lot of other people in different areas who have similar qualifications. If you are an education welfare officer, you are passionate about your job; that is part of your story basically.
- 211. Not only do they meet school staff regularly, they also go out and meet parents regularly. Clare mentioned earlier that, quite often, the issue with children in primary school is not the child not getting into school; it is the parent not getting the child into school. Therefore, they work with parents to help them to set up boundaries for their children and they do some very basic stuff that you expect parents to be able to do, but sometimes those parents have a lot of challenges in their life and they cannot cope. We deal with parents who suffer from alcohol abuse, substance abuse and domestic violence. There is a whole range of issues, and a lot of those parents simply cannot cope with getting their children to school on a regular basis. Sometimes the EWO is the only person going into that family who is doing that type of work. They try to get the parent motivated to get the child into school in the morning, and they help the parent to set targets for their child, even if it is only a simple sheet of paper to put stars on on the days when they are at school. The EWO

- is really motivated and works alongside those parents.
- 212. **Mr Dallat**: Can I stop you there, Alex? Recently, I paid a visit to Sure Start in Coleraine, and I was extremely impressed. However, the staff there told me that the areas in which Sure Start can be of help do not just magically fit into the wards. Who can bring about a situation where Sure Start can help parents in trouble, say, up the Mountsandel Road in Coleraine, which is perceived to be middle class, but we know that there are people there who need help?
- 213. **Ms Barr**: That is part of the difficulty. If they do not fit into the particular region, they will not get help from Sure Start.
- 214. Mr Dallat: What is happening with that?
- 215. **Mr McQuillan**: Especially nowadays, when there is so much private renting, people are moving out in that direction to get a house to suit their family. I think that you need to change with the situation and the times.
- 216. **Mr Dallat**: Is that something that you have addressed? You are obviously aware of it, Alex.
- 217. **Ms Barr**: I am aware of it, but I am not quite sure how to tackle it, to be honest. We will keep working with parents —
- 218. **Mr Dallat**: Is that not something that we need to do? Adrian and I and others know that the children are not in the right wards to get the support and help that they need.
- 219. **Ms Barr**: Sometimes there are ways of getting support for the parent that is above and beyond the EWO —
- 220. Mr Dallat: A percentage.
- 221. **Ms Barr**: Yes; you can sometimes refer them to family support hubs if they are willing to go that way. A lot of the parents would not be keen to go down the route of social services, but they see the family support hub as a more friendly method of getting some support.

- 222. **Mr Dallat**: Can I suggest that you go away and think seriously about this? There is a serious problem. Adrian is quite right: private renting has made complete nonsense of dividing areas up.
- 223. **The Chairperson**: It goes back to the fact that this is targeted at neighbourhood renewal areas, and a lot of these families are outside those areas.
- 224. **Mr Hussey**: If you are going to go away and look at that, can we get some form of response on what is to be done? It is not only a problem in Coleraine; it is a problem in Omagh, too. We all have the same problem.
- 225. **Mrs Gillan**: I understand that there is to be a review of Sure Start. I am not sure exactly what stage that is at, but we can certainly clarify that and provide details to the Committee. Sure Start has been going for some years now and is due to be reviewed in the near future.
- 226. Mr Dallat mentioned the need for passion going forward, so I want to try to convey that passion on behalf of the Department. As Mr Girvan mentioned, the schools doing really well are those with passionate principals, and that is reflected in their attendance figures.
- 227. **Mr Dallat**: Would you encourage that, Caroline?
- 228. **Mrs Gillan**: I would definitely encourage that.
- 229. **Mr Dallat**: You would not bog them down in bureaucracy, would you?
- 230. **Mrs Gillan**: This is the interesting thing. We need the strategy to move forward, as Paul said, but the Department is not about to sit in its office in Rathgael, as pleasant as that is, and draft a strategy for a year. At the same time, we are, through speaking to principals, establishing a network of seminars, the first being in the summer term. The idea, which comes very much from speaking recently to principals on nurture issues, is that they appreciate being in a room together. That allows them to exchange best practice and talk to and learn from one another. So that

is exactly how we will move forward. We will choose the schools carefully, whether that means dividing them into primary and post-primary, or schools who are doing well and those doing not so well.

- 231. It does not end there. We will take views from principals on whether they want further guidance. We do not want to create guidance that will simply sit on the shelf; it needs to be useful. We are seeing whether we can do something with ESaGS.tv or through having direct and ongoing engagement with principals that will involve ETI, EWS and schools, because, as you mentioned, everybody has a role to play. I assure you that we are grasping this and actioning it directly with principals.
- 232. The Chairperson: I go back to the neighbourhood renewal area issue. Something should be done to ensure that the Department is working in collaboration with others. We need to expand neighbourhood renewal status because many families who could benefit are outside those areas. We catch a brave number of families in the neighbourhood renewal areas, but other families are harder to reach. Also, there are trans-generational issues among families who move outside the neighbourhood renewal areas. Those are the families we have to target, so I would appreciate your sending the Committee information on that.
- 233. John, you are content with your questions?
- 234. **Mr Dallat**: Yes, thank you, Chairperson. I apologise, but I have to leave.
- 235. **The Chairperson**: OK. Alex or Adrian, do you have anything to add?
- 236. **Mr McQuillan**: I have just one question: can there be some joined-up working between Sure Start and neighbourhood renewal and the EWOs? They work at too great a distance from each other. Is Sure Start led by DSD?
- 237. **Mrs Gillan**: No, the project is led by the Department of Education, but there is input from others. In Sure Start, there

- is input from the Department of Health and a number of agencies. Likewise, in neighbourhood renewal, although DSD has the lead, it is all joined up. The good thing emerging from the Delivering Social Change programme that the Executive recently launched is more joined-up work between Departments. We join DSD on nurture, and the Department for Employment and Learning works on family support hubs, which link in well with the work of EWS. On the ground, EWOs link into that work, so greater cross-departmental working is definitely the way forward.
- 238. Ms Barr: A couple of ongoing programmes include a transition programme funded by DSD, through neighbourhood renewal, in the Dungannon and Coalisland area. It supports young people in the transition from P7 to year 8. It picks up and supports pupils who seem to be having problems with the transition. Also, mentoring support tutors are funded by DSD, through neighbourhood renewal, in Omagh, Dungannon and Armagh, and another is coming on line in Craigavon. So there is quite a bit of EWS neighbourhood renewal going on.
- 239. Mr Hussey: [Inaudible.]
- 240. Mr McQuillan: [Inaudible.]
- 241. **Mr Easton**: The Audit Office report raised an issue with the lack of mechanisms in place to support young people disengaged from school. What mechanisms might be put in place to provide the support that they need?
- 242. **Dr Mangan**: When we start looking at issues of engagement or lack of engagement, we see that, sometimes, it can happen at the individual pupil level and can arise when familial issues impact on the young person's willingness to attend school. In other words, stresses at home are such that the young person wants to be at home and does not wish to be in school. Other issues can arise at post-primary level when peers, as a cohort, decide not to go to school. That can happen in particular communities

- when, collectively, a group of young people decide that they do not wish to go to school. Those as two very clear examples of where different strategies need to be applied.
- 243. I identified particular projects in certain parts of the Province for young people who are more vulnerable and have been involved in drug misuse or alcohol abuse, for example, but for whom, at the same time, we wanted to facilitate engagement with the school. There are also programmes that make the connection between education and health and social services for some of the case management arrangements and other family conferencing arrangements that should apply. Work is also being done between education and Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) with young people who have significant mental health needs but need support. The Time Out for Positive Steps (TOPS) programme in the Belfast area is for young people identified through CAMHS as having underpinning mental health issues that impact on attendance and for whom other forms of educational support in a context other than school is being provided so that they access at least part of the curriculum to support their needs.
- 244. We are trying to put in place a range of measures, dependent on the assessed need of the individual or the group of young people about whom we are concerned.
- 245. **Mr Easton**: Do you accept that, since 2004, you have been a wee bit slow to put these mechanisms in place?
- 246. **Dr Mangan**: My view is that we have put a lot of mechanisms in place.
 Perhaps we have not been as overt as we could have been about what those mechanisms are. There is an issue about being more explicit about the work being done and making the connection between some of the work that has been done, particularly in relation to vulnerable groups and attendance, and recognising that although the core issue in the headlights may not have

- been attendance, the participation and engagement were about attendance with a view to assisting people to achieve.
- 247. **Mr Easton**: There were 16,000 cases of persistent absence but not necessarily 16,000 pupils persistently absent.

 There could be multiple pupils having 15% of days off. Is that right? Do we know how many pupils the figure of 16,000 cases applies to?
- 248. **Ms Barr**: My understanding is that 16,000 pupils had attendance of under 85%. However, it does not identify pupils who might not be fit to attend school for whatever reason.
- 249. **Mr Easton**: How can you assure the Committee that all 16,000 cases have been followed up and assessed as needing to be referred or not? How can we be sure?
- 250. **Ms Barr**: As I said, EWS does a termly audit in each school across Northern Ireland. That identifies any pupils that have under 85% attendance. Then, a conversation takes place with the school to identify whether it is aware of the reason or whether the absence requires follow-up.
- 251. **Mr Easton**: So there have been 16,000 conversations.
- 252. Ms Barr: Yes.
- 253. **Mr Easton**: That is a lot of conversations.
- 254. **Ms Barr**: It is.
- 255. **Mrs Gillan**: I should add that, just last year, the Department tightened up its guidance on school absence and strongly emphasised the need for schools to put in place early intervention strategies. That guidance has applied since September of the current school year and is based on the experience of a working group of EWOs and school principals. Since then, we have been much more explicit about what we expect of schools and what we need to do.
- 256. **Mr Easton**: Following the Audit Office report of 2004, there is little evidence of a joined-up approach in the delivery

of the education welfare system across the boards. There is a continual debate on the need for a joined-up approach to service provision, and the EWS is no different. Given that the lack of a joined-up approach was raised in the first report and again in this one, what will you do to address that, and why has nothing been done since 2004?

- 257. Dr Mangan: I will start by outlining what was done post-2004. In 2004, some of the issues raised related to the professional qualifications of those in the EWS across the five boards. We now have a Northern Ireland Social Care Council professional development framework that relates to the qualifications and supervision of EWOs, which had not been in place prior to that date. Alex may wish to elaborate on elements of that. I want you to have some sense of the fact that many issues dealt with post-2004 related to the professional competencies of EWOs' professional registration framework; the recognition of specific targeted work within the Education Welfare Service for groups such as looked-after children and school-age mothers, and dedicated staff in the service worked to meet those needs. Further work was done better to align what the chief EWO and education welfare officers did at local level. I will ask Alex to give more specific detail about the monthly meetings and other frameworks put in place across the Province.
- 258. Ms Barr: The chief education welfare officers meet once a month. We look at policy and strategy in the service and the need to deal with any particular issue that comes up. Education welfare has a common referral form that comes in from schools. No matter what part of Northern Ireland you live in, the same referral form is used for children. We use the same assessment form to assess the needs of the young people referred to us. It is called understanding the needs of children in Northern Ireland (UNOCINI). The form is also used by other agencies such as social services and health. We then develop a plan of work for the young person. That is

- supervised by the senior education welfare officer. Built-in supervision is an important part of the work and is required by the Northern Ireland Social Care Council. Once the work is ongoing, it can involve an EWO working with a young person face to face, one to one; working with a group of young people; or, if a child is very young, working with his or her parents. So a wide range of work may be ongoing. If young people are involved in drugs, alcohol abuse or particularly risky behaviour, the EWO might have to involve other agencies to get them the appropriate advice and assistance from a specialist agency.
- 259. The EWS has common systems of recording case work so that everything is recorded to a standard that meets the requirements of the Northern Ireland Social Care Council. We also have a common method for closing cases and recording the closure once they conform to an acceptable pattern or level of attendance. Those are the levels of common practice across Northern Ireland that all EWOs and education and library board services will be [Inaudible.]
- 260. **Mr Easton**: Taking parents to court as a last resort seems to go on forever and a day. It is a very complicated and stressful route, which does not seem to achieve much because of the time involved. Are you looking at other mechanisms that might do away with that?
- 261. Ms Barr: We have to work within the current legislative framework. When we get to the point with a family or young person at which we feel that doing supportive work is not going anywhere and we have to take some sort of action otherwise the board would be failing in its duty to ensure that the young person has an education — we have two options. One is going down the route of an education supervision order under the legislation provided by the Children Order; the other is prosecuting parents under the Education and Libraries Order. We consider which appears to be the most appropriate option. If a young person is out of control or the parent or

parents are deemed to be at fault, it is likely that we will go down the route of parental prosecution. If we think that we can work with the parents, and the child is very young, we will probably go down the route of an education supervision order. We have not been particularly good at using those in the past, but we are moving towards using them more, especially with younger children.

- 262. I agree with you that prosecuting parents has not been particularly successful, as demonstrated by many repeat prosecutions. Parents prosecuted once are often prosecuted again the following year, but the young person still does not attend. That is a problem.
- 263. Other young people fall into the category of being a child in need by virtue of the fact that their parents do not ensure that they are educated. However, we cannot get a referral to social services except [Inaudible.]
- 264. **Mr Easton**: Can we get the costs for those court cases over the past several years?
- 265. **Ms Barr**: Yes, I can provide those for you. The Magistrates' Court is relatively cheap to prosecute through. Prosecutions under the Children Order cost a couple of hundred pounds, which can add up.
- 266. **Mr Easton**: It would be interesting to know the total.
- 267. Irrespective of when, or if, ESA is established, what are your thoughts on the Audit Office's recommendation that the Department consider a more joined-up and consistent approach in the provision of the EWS under the current five-board structure?
- 268. **Dr Mangan**: I met chief executive colleagues recently to discuss the content of the report. All five chief executives are fully committed to supporting the implementation of its recommendations. We recognise the need to bring enhanced consistency to the delivery of attendance issues, not just through the Education Welfare Service but through other mechanisms

- available to us and, indeed, through other services. It is important to stipulate that other services can also have a role in supporting and promoting attendance. The view across the five boards is that, at board level, we can give enhanced prominence to attendance. We can do so through the wider school improvement agenda; the quarterly reports of the education committee in each board; or other equivalent structures that ensure that attention is given to the issue.
- 269. From an EWS perspective, the view of the chief executives was that we should have a common regional action plan, with individual ELB targets to reflect local and specific need. We felt that that would be the most appropriate way of ensuring that we were working to a regional framework but still recognising the individual and specific needs of ELBs. There was recognition of the enhanced focus on attendance in school development plans and a realisation that there is also inter-disciplinary work between CASS officers, the Education Welfare Service and other board services that record attendance. Referrals to the educational psychology service, for example, record attendance on the referral form to ascertain whether a child has needs that are intrinsic to their difficulty or whether attendance is part of that difficulty.
- 270. I will detail a few other aspects that we think we can introduce to bring further alignment. More work will be done on the procurement of the Education Welfare Service's education management systems (EMS), which have been in place for 10 years. Through new procurement, we will have the opportunity, in the next 18 months, to put forward more specific business requirements on the type of data sets and reports that we want those systems to generate on our behalf.
- 271. The report recognises that increased coherence should be brought to training for boards of governors on the significance of attendance. We are committed to doing that. Given that we will be reconstituting boards of

- governors with effect from September 2014, we deem that this is an opportune time to do that.
- 272. Finally, work on the interface between the C2k system in schools and the access of the Education Welfare Service to that system is being progressed with immediate effect to do what we can to minimise any difficulties identified to date.
- 273. **The Chairperson**: Before we move away from the EWOs, I want to ask a further question. I am going back a couple of years to what happened in my area. Is there a pathway for young juveniles who we have no chance of getting back to school and for whom the court option did not work? Could a young male or female go to an establishment other than a school to do alternative non-academic activities? Does that happen?
- 274. **Ms Barr**: Not particularly. When young people begin to drop out of education, schools try to be flexible and create a curriculum around them that might enable them to engage. Youth Service and EWO work is ongoing, and some boards are trying to identify the young people disaffected with education and provide support from year 8 on, with particular support at years 11 and 12. We have identified a number of schools, and the Youth Service and EWS will work jointly on that.
- 275. **Dr Mangan**: Across the boards, we also have education other than at school (EOTAS) provision for young people who are very disaffected with school. The first port of call for EOTAS is usually participation and engagement and then a gradual settling into achievement issues.
- 276. Work on therapeutic levels of support has been developed on a project basis. That was piloted in the Western board some years ago, with interventions between child and adolescent mental health services and educators to try to encourage families to recognise the need to engage with key agencies to address not only pupil improvement but other family-based issues.
- 277. **The Chairperson**: Finally, the report states that the chief education welfare

- officer told the Audit Office that schools were discouraged from referring cases, yet the chief executives of the ELBs said that that was not the practice. We were concerned when we read that. What is the truth?
- 278. Ms Barr: The truth is that, in general, EWOs would not discourage schools from making referrals to the Education Welfare Service. I think that we need to unpick this a little. Sometimes, if a school makes a referral to the EWS without having made any intervention itself, an EWO will ask the school to carry out some basic intervention to see whether it can resolve the situation. The pupil is enrolled in a school, so the prime responsibility is initially with the school, and it is only right that it should carry out the initial intervention, at least to the extent of informing parents that they think that there is an issue before passing it to the Education Welfare Service.
- 279. Other instances in which that may happen, albeit that it would be very unusual, is if a school makes a large number of referrals on, say, 30 June. There is absolutely no point in an EWO picking up a load of cases on 30 June when he or she knows that children will be absent for two months. There is no point in an EWO engaging with the family and asking them to ensure that their child attends regularly. In those circumstances, an EWO will probably ask that those cases be referred again in September. Those are the situations in which an EWO might discourage referrals. We are a very small resource, and we feel that it is appropriate for schools to make the initial intervention before referring cases to us.
- 280. **The Chairperson**: That was a particular concern for the Committee, and you have clarified the situation. However, if the chief education welfare officer told the Audit Office that, it has, in my opinion, been misled.
- 281. **Mr Rogers**: Alex, I have one more question for you. I cannot believe that you get referrals in late June.

- 282. **Ms Barr**: Yes. It is an absolute nonsense; we get referrals on 30 June some years. It seems as if schools suddenly realise that there are children who have not been attending, and they come to us on 30 June and say that they have missed 20 or 30 days. We ask them what they want us to do; it is the end of the school term. We would make sure that we pick them up in September, if they are still causing difficulties.
- 283. **Mr Rogers**: Related to that; does it only kick onto your radar when it drops to 85% attendance?
- 284. **Ms Barr**: We would usually have picked up those cases earlier in the year, at the half-termly audits. At that point, they may well have not have been below the 85%; they may have been up at 90% or something like that, but the school gets into panic mode coming up to the end of the year.
- 285. **Mr Rogers**: It is a very low level. You are taking 15 days absence in the first 100. By my count, even were they to be there for the next 90 days, the best that they could make would be 91% or 92%. It also establishes really bad practice, as well. It is near enough a day-a-week off.
- 286. Ms Barr: If the school has particular concerns about a young person, we will take it earlier. If there are reasons for the absence, we will not. It can sometimes be ambiguous. An example might be a case where the school said that it was concerned because a young child has been absent a lot but has put much of it down to illnesses. The school is just not satisfied with the parental response to that. We do not let it go and say, "Oh, it's an illness". We can ask the community paediatrician to investigate. Also, sometimes you will get young people who suffer from asthma or something like that, in which case we can advise the parent or the community paediatrician about it to see whether they can look at an asthma management programme for them. So, a number of things can be done if it is claimed to be repeat illness.

- 287. **Mr Rogers**: I just want to look at the management admissions systems. As you said, Clare, we have had C2k since 2000, so the attendance model has been there for 14 years. The 2004 report stated:
 - "More effective use of data is fundamental to combat poor attendance".
- 288. First, what review of that attendance module has been done to see how, working along with the Education Welfare Service, it can address this non-attendance issue? Has any review been done, even through asking schools how useful it is?
- 289. **Dr Mangan**: C2k is in regular contact with schools in relation to the use of the system as a whole. The data reports that we are getting about C2k have also enabled us to be much more specific about the nature of the absences and the profile across year groups. That should inform us as we move forward. In reality, the totality of attendance is, on average, around 95%. If you consider the difference between the 2004 situation and now, there has been a marginal improvement in 10 years.
- 290. We need to factor in what percentage of absences are real illness, which is probably around 3%, and what the variance is. That 2% or so is what we really need to focus on to deal with children who perhaps are not ill and do not go to school. I am really saying that the data sets that we now have enable us to have a much more specific focus on the subset of absences that we need to focus on more.
- 291. **Mrs Gillan**: As Clare was saying there, since reporting became mandatory, the Department has regularly reviewed how it operates. The Department has reissued its guidance on exactly the categorisation and the codes that have to be used to allow a better analysis. So, we have fine-tuned the system as we have gone along.
- 292. **Mr Rogers**: Thank you. Secondly, in many of our schools, a child's absence triggers a text message. How widespread is that?

- 293. Dr Mangan: It is becoming more widespread. Schools are using text messaging, not just in relation to absence from school but, more specifically, absence from periods of the school day. In other words, by the time the young person gets home, the parent has got the text message that the pupil was not there for double biology in the afternoon. So, some schools are using text messaging to good and, may I say, intelligent effect. Increasingly more schools are using text messaging generally, whether for attendance or other contact with parents.
- 294. **Mr Rogers**: Is that good practice being disseminated?
- 295. **Dr Mangan**: It is, and we are encouraging that because we see it as effective. The message is not seen as being draconian. It is not a sanction. It is about sharing up-to-date information between school and parent in relation to the child's attendance or non-attendance, not necessarily for all of the school day but for part of it.
- 296. **Mr Rogers**: You mentioned remote access for the EWOs earlier. Surely we do not need pilots for that. We have virtual learning communities whereby children and teachers can access their C2k stuff from home. Can we not just roll that straight out?
- 297. **Dr Mangan**: No, we cannot. I have explored that option. It can be done, and it will be done, but there are technical issues around it, to do with not only ownership but access. It is achievable but requires a little bit more work, particularly as we now have a transformed C2k system that is different from the network that was in place 10 years ago.
- 298. **Mr Copeland**: I want to make a couple of small points. We have already established that there is a linkage between socio-economic group income and non-attendance at school. The cutoff for this was 2011-12. That leaves us 2013-14, during which the income of the poorest 10% of families in the Province declined by £1,000. Is it likely that that

- will be reflected in your figures? More importantly, the most seriously affected demographic, should welfare reform be implemented in its current form, will be low-paid working families with children who, presumably, attend school. I wrote to every government Minister asking for their assessment of the impact should welfare reform be implemented in its current form. It is widely accepted that between £450 million and £750 million will be taken out of the Northern Ireland economy through a reduction or realignment of benefits. If we are saying that children's attendance at school is affected by income, and we have a one-year period where the 10% who are worst off have experienced a £1,000 decrease and there will be another £750 million decrease, it seems to me that that cannot but have an effect. Have you gathered any predictive, as opposed to historical, statistics to assess the nature of the problem that we could be facing? Do we have any figures on the cost, which could maybe be offset by not doing bits of welfare reform?
- 299. **Mr Sweeney**: The short answer is that I do not have that sort of analysis. We are straying into the complexities of the social policy implications of welfare reform. From a Department of Education point of view, I hope that we have been able to demonstrate this afternoon that we are ensuring that the resources that we have available to us are properly targeted, particularly towards the areas of greatest need. We talked about straplines earlier. Poverty should never be used as an excuse, and that is at the heart of what we are trying to do in education. It is about valuing education.
- 300. **Mr Copeland**: I fully understand. However, is it an excuse or is it just an accident that a very large number of children who come from socially and financially deprived backgrounds happened not go to school? That demographic absolutely needs to go to school.
- 301. **Mr Sweeney**: I completely understand the dynamic of that, but communities are getting terrific results in really challenging circumstances. I take my hat

at play is a community that values education. We need to put more effort into fostering that kind of culture. As Caroline said earlier, the Minister has put significant resources into the public campaign about valuing education and about grandparents and parents engaging with their children. As we look to the horizons, there is no doubt that the socio-economic conditions within which we all operate are challenging and, with austerity, are likely to continue to be challenging. However, be assured that the Department will do its level best to target resources where it can. We are not acquiescing that poor educational achievement is an inevitable outcome of poverty, because we know —

off to them. I believe that the dynamic

- 302. **Mr Copeland**: Historically, that is what the statistics indicate, is it not?
- 303. **Mr Sweeney**: The greatest empowerment tool out of poverty is investing in education. That is crucial. That needs a partnership between the Assembly, the Department, the board, communities and parents. Given the challenges that we are confronting, of all of the social policy interventions that we could focus on, investing in and valuing education can yield very good policy outcomes.
- 304. **Mr Copeland**: Just one last point. We have five separate types of education available, broadly speaking; controlled, maintained, faith-based and the rest of them. Do you have responsibility for all of them?
- 305. **Mr Sweeney**: Yes.
- 306. **Mr Copeland**: OK, that is fine.
- 307. **Mr Sweeney**: There was not a catch in that question, was there?
- 308. **Mr Copeland**: No. What I am basically asking, I suppose, is that, given that the ethos is different in different types of school, is there any ethos that gives a better outcome in terms of actually getting kids to understand that going to school does not restrict your freedom but actually gives you freedom?

- 309. **Mr Sweeney**: That is where we started today. It is about the leadership in the local community valuing education and getting that joined-up approach right from nurturing and Sure Start through to primary and post-primary. You have seen the range of interventions that are possible.
- 310. Mr Copeland: As I said, I have quite personal reasons for asking, because my daughter works with NEETs, which are the consequence that arise from this. Yet another one, at 17 years of age, tried to take his own life last night. That is nine since the beginning of December, not just there. That is the real price. Although, in many cases, that stops one type of expenditure, the ongoing costs are absolutely colossal. In my experience, I have employed — most of the guys here would know the people who I employ — people who managed to get through school without reading and writing. They are not stupid, and they do not deserve to be written off. They are a resource that we do not dig our mines deep enough to discover. That is my own opinion.
- 311. Mr Hazzard: Thanks, guys, for today. I suppose we have been around the house and back again. I just have a couple of points. I will try to keep them close to the sharing of good practice module that I have looked at. I definitely empathise with the struggle to tackle it effectively. I think that the figure is that 9% of learning is actually done in the classroom between the ages of four and 16. It is very hard for a Department of Education, which deals with basically autonomous schools as well, to be able to implement something top-down that, in effect, is a magic bullet. I certainly empathise with that.
- 312. However, I think we are starting to make headway. I see that the Minister today launched the Play Together, Learn Together initiative in Galliagh in Derry. Those are the sorts of things that we may not see the results of for a generation, but it is where we need to start. It is important that we embed that social policy within the wider education framework. With that in mind, is the

Department working alongside the Department of Health, the Department of Justice and DSD to generate a wider societal approach to absenteeism? I certainly think it is necessary. I think there is only so much that the Department of Education and a school can do. The legal obligation, of course, rests with the parents, it is not even with the schools. Is there something that we need to look at there? Maybe there is something more that we could look at to give strength to the schools or the Department to enable them to tackle the issue.

- 313. I should say from the outset that I want to thank my colleagues across the way for making a better case for ESA today than I or the Minister have ever made before. I will just put that on record anyway. Will we start with those few points before we move on?
- 314. **Mrs Gillan**: I will make a few comments from a departmental engagement perspective. A lot of DSD's neighbourhood renewal stuff does link into educational attainment already. Our officials engage with DSD when we are assessing and evaluating projects on the ground to make sure that the educational outcomes are robust. There is definitely always more that we can do.
- 315. I have had an early conversation with officials in the Department of Justice. I believe that they are embarking on a youth justice element, preventing youth getting into criminal behaviour. They are very keen to speak to us and they can certainly see the linkages that we need to look at, because their stats show, as Mr Copeland said, that a lot of the kids getting into crime have low educational experiences, are not going to school and are getting into trouble. So, we are already building the cross-departmental links there.
- 316. There is also the nurture work that is going on through Delivering Social Change, on which we work closely with DSD. That is the early intervention work for P1 and P2 children who have emotional, social and behavioural difficulties. They are taken out of their

- mainstream classes for, perhaps, up to two terms and are put into a really good nurturing environment. That approach is also being rolled out in schools that have a nurture room. We got stats recently from a school I will not name it that has one of the 20 new nurture units, and, even since November, the attendance levels of children in those units have gone up by 5% and 6%, so it shows what can be done when there is joined-up working. As we said before, we are developing the cross-departmental element and engaging with officials.
- 317. **Mr Hazzard**: You alluded to measuring these initiatives. Is it possible yet to see what is happening with these initiatives such as Valuing Education or Play Together, Learn Together? Is there a cohort now so that we can start to see whether these are working?
- 318. Mrs Gillan: I can speak more closely about the nurture work. We are about to embark on an evaluation. We have to evaluate the current units in order to dictate future policy; we ask whether it works and what is the best thing about it. We cannot just simply evaluate the units that have just been set up: they are part of it, but we need some historical data. A number of schools have had units in place, either selffunded or through extended schools, for quite a period of time. We are using data from those schools plus the schools that had been funded through DSD neighbourhood renewal and commissioning research there to look at the outcomes, not only short-term but longer term in the pupils' careers. Nurture has the benefit of following a Boxall profile, so there is a lot of good data there. I know that DSD recently did an evaluation of neighbourhood renewal. We in the Department are obliged, as you know in the PAC, whenever we do a strategy or an initiative, to evaluate it to prove that is has been effective and is value for money.
- 319. **Mr Hazzard**: Obviously, with the impending reform of the common funding formula, some of these schools in the areas we have mentioned today are going to receive a substantial

increase in the money available to them. I know that the Sutton Trust has done a lot of work to provide a suite of good practice measures that schools can pick from. Will the Department work closely with schools to say to them, perhaps, that they have a particular problem with absenteeism, which certainly feeds into low attainment levels, and present them with that suite of measures?

- 320. **Mrs Gillan**: That is right. We mentioned the McClure Watters report earlier. One of its recommendations was that not only should we be networking and providing guidance but that even the guidance that comes out has to allow schools to evaluate and monitor the effectiveness of their interventions. We will definitely build that in as we move forward.
- 321. **Mr Hazzard**: I presume, of course, that accountability is built into that so that, if the attendance numbers are not going up in schools, pressure will be applied to ask them what is going on. Perhaps that is where the DI comes in, too.
- 322. Mrs Gillan: Yes.
- 323. **Mr Hazzard**: OK. I want to touch briefly on the area learning communities and their role in sharing good practice on attendance.
- 324. Mr Sweeney: As I said earlier, I met the 30 area learning communities — all post-primary, obviously — and they have a whole range of subgroups that are sharing good practice. I have to be honest and say we were largely focusing on educational attainment and leadership. which were the two core themes. I was left with a very strong impression that very good informal sharing of good practice is taking place. If I could put the clock back now, with the benefit of the report and the discussion we have had this afternoon, I would say that we need to be more explicit about attendance. Although we have been relentless about attainment, we need to be more overt, as Clare said, about attendance, and we need to hold ourselves to account specifically on that.
- 325. To cut a long story short, as we develop the roll-out of good practice, the area

- learning communities in the post-primary sector have a really good platform that we can exploit for that purpose.
- 326. **Mr Hazzard**: I am really glad to hear you say that about being explicit, because there is so much more to school than attainment. You have to be there, of course, to get it. That is certainly positive.
- 327. Is any work being done on international best practice around attendance? I have no doubt that it works best in societies where the effects of poverty and social deprivation do not have the same sort of effect on their system that we have here. Recently, I looked at some of the social missions involved in Venezuela, and they seem to have had a massive impact, not just on the effects of poverty but on attendance in schools. They have certainly hinged around opening up schools to the community in the evening and getting parents, grandparents and families involved in education at night. Therefore, in the morning, the mother or the father knows the value of education and makes sure that the child goes out to school.
- 328. Mrs Gillan: When we commissioned the McClure Watters report, the first major section reviewed good practice elsewhere. Obviously, it looked at England, Scotland, Wales and the South, but it also went further afield and considered New Zealand, Canada and a number of other education systems similar to ours. Therefore, we have that good data. McClure Watters collated the best of good practice elsewhere and the good practice going on in the schools, and its final report was very much a summary of what exactly works across the world. However, we can certainly follow up on what is happening elsewhere.
- 329. **The Chairperson**: There are no other questions from members. Thank you, Mr Sweeny and your team, for coming. It has been very helpful. I am sure that you will take away the comments that were made by members. We talked a lot about the sharing of good practice, but we still ended up with this report, and that speaks for itself.

- 330. In your opening remarks, you talked about educational achievement, and there was a particular focus on that. In some ways, absenteeism has been allowed to slip. Both are inextricably linked, so we cannot take our eye of the ball on either. There has to be work done. Today's session indicates that there has been a marginal improvement in attendance rates since the last Audit Office report in 2004. However, there is room for improvement, and there are many challenges ahead for you and your Department in learning from that. Thank you for the contribution that you have all made. We will consider the evidence and issue a report in due course. I know that there is some outstanding information that we require from you. The Committee Clerk will work with you to get that information.
- 331. We look forward to seeing further improvements in this area. Thank you for attending today.
- 332. **Mr Sweeney**: On behalf of my colleagues, I thank you and the members for the courtesy that you have shown us this afternoon.
- 333. **The Chairperson**: Kieran, do you want to make any comments on today's session?
- 334. Mr Kieran Donnelly (Comptroller and Auditor General): Yes. I suppose I am guite heartened by some of Paul's comments, mainly around being explicit on absenteeism and the need for accountability. What struck me, when listening to the evidence, was the broad range of policy options that there are to deal with the problem. However, to help to keep the focus on the issue, it is important to dwell on the 20.000 children who missed more than six weeks a year, and that has been masked by the average figures. The proof will be in the pudding as to how that headline figure moves over the next number of vears. That is the main comment that I wanted to make.

- 335. **The Chairperson**: Thank you. We have Mike Brennan with us today in place of Fiona Hamill. You are very welcome, Mike.
- 336. **Mr Hazzard**: Kieran, I know that we made the comparison today with England. How do you think our figures rank in Europe? Would that be easy to extrapolate?
- 337. **Mr Donnelly**: We have not looked at that explicitly in this report, but it is something that we can come back to. I defer to the team on access to information over and above that in the report. We have not gone beyond these islands on this particular data set.
- 338. **The Chairperson**: If members have no other questions for Kieran, we will move on. Mike, do you want to make any comments on what you have heard?
- 339. **Mr Mike Brennan (Acting Treasury Officer of Accounts)**: Not really, Chair. However, I would just say that there were a couple of action points in relation to additional information, so we will liaise with the Department to make sure that that is fed through to the Committee.
- 340. **The Chairperson**: Thank you. That ends the evidence session on pupil attendance. I thank everyone involved.



Appendix 3

Correspondence

Correspondence of 12 March 2014 from Department of Education

Desk Immediate



Lear

Permanent Secretary

Paul Sweeney Rathgael House 43 Balloo Road Rathgill BANGOR BT19 7PR

Tel: 028 9127 9309 Fax: 028 9127 9779

Date: 12 March 2014

email: paul.sweeney@deni.gov.uk

Ms Michaela Boyle Chairperson Public Accounts Committee NI Assembly Room 371 Parliament Buildings Ballymiscaw Stormont Belfast BT4 3XX

Dear Ms Boyle

NIAO Report on Improving Pupil Attendance: Follow-up Report

As you are aware, the Department is giving evidence at 2:00pm today on the NI Audit Office Improving Pupil Attendance: Follow-up Report.

Unfortunately, during our final preparation for the Hearing, we discovered two errors within the report:

- The first relates to the number of parental fines (108) detailed in Paragraph 17 on page 7 and Paragraph 3.30 on page 40; and
- The number of Education Supervision Orders (24) detailed also in Paragraph 17 on page 7 and Paragraph 3.30 on page 40.

I have asked the Chief Executives of the Education and Library Boards to provide clarification on these issues. They have advised that the correct position is as follows:-

Parental Fines issued in the 2011/12 and 2012/13 school years

Education and Library Board	2011/12	2012/13
Belfast	4	2
Western	14	4
North-Eastern	2	13
South-Eastern	4	3
Southern	12	25
Total	36	47

The total number of Education Supervision Orders (ESOs) issued in 2011/12 was 41 and in 2012/13 was 37.

I would be grateful if you could bring this to the urgent attention of Committee members.

I apologise for any inconvenience caused and can assure you there was no intention to mislead the Committee or the NI Audit Office.

Paul Sweeney

Correspondence of 21 March 2014 to Department of Education

Public Accounts Committee

Room 371
Parliament Buildings
Ballymiscaw
BELFAST BT4 3XX

Tel: (028) 9052 1208

Fax: (028) 9052 0366

E: pac.committee@niassembly.gov.uk

Paul Sweeney
Department of Education, Accounting Officer
Rathgael House
43 Balloo Road
Bangor
BT19 7PR

21 March 2014

cc. Treasury Officer of Accounts

Dear Paul,

PAC inquiry into Improving Pupil Attendance

Thank you, and your colleagues, for participating in the Committee's evidence session on this inquiry on 12 March. The evidence session proved extremely useful and the information provided will be taken into account when the Committee produces its report.

In the interim, and as agreed at the meeting, could I ask that you please provide the following information for the Committee's consideration:

- A member raised a query in relation to free school meal entitlement and the use of electronic alternatives to the ticket systems, to address the stigma attached to receiving free school meals. In response, Clare offered to provide information on the scale of uptake of alternatives to the ticket system;
- Members discussed the need to allow SureStart to help parents and children, but they are stopped from doing so because those they could help are not necessarily living in the right wards. Members feel that this is an issue that needs to be addressed and that greater flexibility must be put in place to permit SureStart to help those in need. The Committee would ask for an indication of what will be done to address this issue;
- Caroline offered to provide the current position in relation to the review of SureStart.
 Members would be keen to receive this information.
- The Neighbourhood Renewal status needs to be expanded and government departments and relevant bodies / agencies need to work together to ensure that hard to reach families, that may have moved outside of the Neighbourhood Renewal areas, are not forgotten. The Committee would appreciate your views on this matter.
- On the issue of prosecuting parents, please provide the Committee with information on the court costs expended on this in recent years, perhaps the last 5 years.
- With regard to international best practice, the McClure Watters report commissioned by your Department reviewed good practice elsewhere beyond the UK and Ireland that have a similar education system to ours. The Committee would ask for information on the

findings of McClure Watters report in relation to good practice and details on any other relevant research completed or ongoing internationally.

I would request a response on the above issues by close of play on Thursday 10 April 2014. If this deadline causes difficulties, please contact the Clerk to the PAC to discuss.

Yours sincerely,

Michaela Boyle

Chairperson, Public Accounts Committee

Correspondence of 8 April 2014 from Department of Education

PERMANENT SECRETARY
Paul Sweeney

Department of Education
www.deni.gov.uk
AN ROINN
Oideachais
MANNYSTRIE O
Lear

SO 15295

Ms Michaela Boyle Chairperson Public Accounts Committee Room 371 Parliament Buildings Ballymiscaw BELFAST BT4 3XX Rathgael House 43 Balloo Road Rathgill Bangor BT19 7PR Tel: 028 9127 9309 Fax: 028 9127 9779

email: paul.sweeney@deni.gov.uk

Dow Ms. Boyle,

8 April 2014

PAC INQUIRY INTO IMPROVING PUPIL ATTENDANCE

 Thank you for your letter dated 21 March 2014 in relation to the Committee's evidence session on pupil attendance (12 March). In response to your queries I can provide the following information.

Free School meal entitlement - use of electronic alternatives to the ticket systems

2. I attach, at Annex A, detailed information provided by the Education and Library Boards, in relation to the use of electronic alternatives to meal ticket systems, aimed at addressing the stigma attached to receiving free school meals.

Sure Start

3. The review of Sure Start is currently being procured. The review will consider the needs of those currently accessing the services and make recommendations as to how services can be targeted most effectively, including potential for admissions criteria. This will include an assessment of those who are most vulnerable or at risk as well as those with specific requirements.



Neighbourhood Renewal

- 4. The Department for Social Development, in leading on Neighbourhood Renewal, has responsibility for defining the scope of the Neighbourhood Renewal strategy. Areas deemed to have Neighbourhood Renewal status are those in the most deprived 10% of wards across Northern Ireland identified by the Noble Multiple Deprivation Measure. The point raised is outside the scope of the Department of Education, therefore may I suggest that it should be addressed directly with the Department of Social Development.
- 5. Responsibility for tackling disadvantage and deprivation will transfer from the Department of Social Development to the new councils as part of the programme of local government reform from 1 April 2015. The Councils will be responsible for developing their own area plans and will have the freedom to develop their own districts. However the PAC may be interested to know that the Department of Education, together with Education and Library Boards have a close working relationship with the Department of Social Development on education-related Neighbourhood Renewal projects to address the needs of vulnerable children and young people.

Prosecuting parents

6. I attach, at Annex B, information provided by the Education and Library Boards, in relation to court costs incurred in prosecuting parents.

McClure Waters Report

- The main findings of the report are listed below. Research included a review of literature from countries with a similar cultural background to Northern Ireland, such as England, Scotland, Wales and the USA, among others.
- 8. While there is no single solution to the problem of school attendance in deprived areas a range of strategies can, and are, being applied to promote good attendance. These include:
 - · Positive school ethos and culture in terms of attendance.
 - Implementation of an attendance policy and targets.
 - Designated staff with roles and responsibilities.
 - Reward schemes for good attendance.
 - Additional support for poor attendees.
 - Strong relationships between schools and parents/carers.
 - Links between schools and the wider community and:
 - Collaboration between schools and external support services such as the Education Welfare Service and multi-agency networks.
- The research indicated that programmes, such as Breakfast Clubs, which are
 provided through the Department's Extended Schools Programme are having a
 positive impact on school attendance and behaviour.

- I attach a copy of the report for your information. I also include a link to Appendix 1 of the report which references the literature that was reviewed. http://www.deni.gov.uk/appendices part i pdf.pdf
- 11. I trust that you will find this information useful.

Yours sincerely

PAUL SWEENEY

ANNEX A

Free School meal entitlement - use of electronic alternatives to the ticket systems (by Board area)

BELB

BELB currently has 9 post-primary schools using cashless biometric systems provided by 2 different companies. The remaining 9 post-primary schools can redeem cash at till points or produce a free schools meals ticket or lunch time pass. In one school the office staff hold a register of pupils entitled to free meals; this is marked off daily showing the number of pupils availing of free meals and the information is passed on to the kitchen supervisor.

All primary schools in BELB except one are no longer issuing tickets to pupils. The school office informs the kitchen supervisor on a daily basis prior to lunch being served regarding the number of pupils who require a meal, and whether they are paid or free. At the end of lunch being served the kitchen supervisor will confirm these numbers with office staff.

Only one primary school still uses paid and free tickets.

SEELB

One post-primary school canteen under the control of the board currently uses an electronic cashless system for school meals which includes free school meals. As part of a wider implementation plan for cashless systems, a further five electronic cashless systems will be brought into use in post-primary schools early in the next financial year. Some voluntary schools within the board's area operate cashless systems.

In the remaining 28 post-primary school canteens, pupils redeem money at the Till Points or furnish a Free School Meals Pass/Ticket. Alternatively a register of free meals is held by a supervisory assistant and pupils availing of a free school meal are marked off the register. The passes/tickets or the uptake recorded on the register are counted when lunch has been served to determine free school meals numbers which are agreed with the school office.

In the majority of primary schools the school office informs the kitchen supervisor of the total number of meals required. At the end of lunch the kitchen supervisor agrees the number of paid and free meals taken that day with the school office staff. In a small number of primary schools free and paid meal tickets are issued to pupils. These are counted and agreed with the school office after lunch has been served.

NEELB

1 post-primary school, St Killian's College in Carnlough, that has a Bio-Metric Cashless System in place. 42 post-primary schools that we provide catering for in the NEELB. In the remaining 41 post-primary school canteens the pupils redeem

money at the Till Points or a Free Meal Pass which is currently set at a value of £2.50. Normally the Free Meal Pass is a small laminated card with the pupils photo, name and class on it. These are counted at the end of lunch service to ascertain the number of free meal passes served in that day and are then returned to the school office to be re-issued the next day.

In primary schools there are no tickets issued to any children, and school based staff advise the kitchen staff of the number of Free Meals each day for recording purposes. Kitchen staff are not aware who is Free Meal child or a paying child.

. SELB

SELB currently has 8 post-primary cash cafeterias using a variety of cashless systems provided by four different companies. Another 4 post primary schools will go live after April 14 bringing the total to 12. Using these systems, all pupils can upload money into their personal account by inserting notes or coins into revaluation units or via the school office using cheques. Free school meals entitlement is uploaded daily on to the system via SIMS. This free entitlement is loaded after morning break but prior lunch time as the entitlement only applies to lunch. Only school administration staff and the recipient are aware of the "free meal entitlement" although this information can be accessed by the kitchen supervisor if required (although there is no need for this knowledge). This removes the "stigma" attached to free entitlement for the recipient.

Each customer/ pupil approaches the till operator with their selected purchase. They place their finger on the biometric reader which identifies points on their finger (not a finger print); alternatively the customer can use a four digit pin number or be identified using their surname, year group and photograph. The latter two methods are back up for the biometric reader in the case where this does not successfully read the finger. Parents/guardians can request print-outs to identify the food purchased by each customer. Management reports can be produced showing the uptake of free entitlement, average spend by customer, meal time, food trends etc.

Cashless systems have been shown to increase the uptake of free meals to entitlement; however, this may not always be the case as some customers who are entitled to a free meal still prefer to leave the school premises and purchase food elsewhere. Cashless systems increase the speed of service as the customer do not have to search for cash. The system can be linked to other uses, e.g. library cards, security access, points for "houses" although this is not currently used in SELB.

Traditional Ticketing Systems

Normally, passes are issued by form teachers daily to free meal takers, although in a few schools they are issued by supervisory assistants in the dining hall. These passes are produced by the school office and may or may not have photographic ID of the holder. In most dining halls, this pass is handed in to the cashier, the meal is recorded on the till and the pass is returned to the office after lunch time when a count has been made of the numbers of free pupils availing of a lunch. In a few cases, the pass may be returned to the pupil for re-use on following days. There is

only one school which issues meal tickets in SELB. Traditional ticketing has a low level of anonymity for the free meal taker.

WELB

There are 24 post-primary schools that operate Biometric cashless systems.

All other schools, both primary and post-primary, use either a ticket or register system for the allocation of free meals. School meals staff are aware of the need for discretion and confidentiality in this area.

Annex B

Prosecutions in ELBs

Board	2008/09	No of Fines Issued	Value of Fines	No of Education Supervision	Court Cost of Parental	Court Cost of ESOs	Barrister's Fees	Total Court Cost
			£	Orders Issued	Prosecutions			
BELB	4	3	430	0	40.00	0	0	40.00
NEELB	4	0	0	2	40.00	218.00	0	258.00
SEELB	9	4	1,400	0	70.00	0	0	70.00
SEI.B	18	7	1,275	0	180.00	0	0	180.00
WELB	12	7	3,100	6	150.00	1,204.00		2,569.00
Totals	44	21	6,205	11	480.00	1422.00	1,215.00	3,117.00
			_					J.

Board	2009/10	No of Fines Issued	Value of Fines f	No of Education Supervision Orders Issued	Court Cost of Parental Prosecutions	Court Cost of ESOs	Barrister's Fees	Total Court Cost
BELB	23	2	270	11	230.00	1,201.00	1,670.00	3,101.00
NEELB	0	0	0	12	0	1,076.00	543.27	1,619.27
SEELB	-	—	50	1	10.00	82.00	0	92.00
SELB	45	11	1,745	450	450.00	0	0	450.00
WELB	35	4	1,100	20	208.00	2,269.50	5,600.00	8,377.50
Totals	104	18	3,165	494	1,198.00	4,628.50	7,813.27	13,639.77

\vdash	2010/11	No of Fines	Value of	No of Education	Court Cost	Cost of	Barrister's	Total Court
		Issued	Fines £	Supervision Orders Issued	of Parental Prosecutions	ESOs	Fees	Cost
	17	4	730	7	170.00	654.00	650.00	1,304.00
	9	2	150	13	00:09	1,151.00	2,420.37	3,991.37
	8	7	2,550	7	80.00	460.00	545.00	1,085.00
	37	23	3,070	0	370.00	0	0	370.00
	45	8	1,850	14	655.00	1,264.00	1,534.00	3,453.00
	113	44	8,350	41	1,335.00	3,529.00	5,149.37	10,203.37

	1/12	No of Linos	Value of	No of Education	Count Coct	Court Cost of	Rarrictor's	Total Court
71/1107		Issued	Fines	Supervision	of Parental	ESOS	Fees	Cost
			41	Orders Issued	Prosecutions			
17	Ι -	4	390	12	170.00	1,296.00	2,131.10	3,597.10
0	1	2	125	19	100.00	2,638.00	2,801.11	5,539.11
3		3	830	2	40.00	246.00	215.00	501.00
37		12	1,910	0	700.00	0	0	700.00
26		13	7,090	2	623.00	836.00	2,768.00	4,227.00
93		34	10,345	40	1,633.00	5,015.00	7,915.21	14,564.21
	_							

Barrister's	Fees Cost			489.00 2,622.00	1,400.80 2,071.80	226.00 1,034.00	4,515.90 5,970.40	000771
Court Cost of	ESOs		478.00	1,453.00	621.00	204.00	956.50	47
Court Cost	of Parental	Prosecutions	160.00	00'089	50.00	604.00	498.00	00000
No of Education	Supervision	Orders Issued	S	18	9	3	ហ	ì
Value of	Fines	41	220	1,573	1,250	2,390	1,950	1 200
No of Fines	Issued		2	13	4	25	7	T.
2012/13			16	89	10	29	33	104
Board			BELB	NEELB	SEELB	SELB	WELB	T-4-1-



Appendix 4

List of Witnesses who Gave Oral Evidence to the Committee

List of Witnesses who Gave Oral Evidence to the Committee

- 1. Mr Paul Sweeney, Accounting Officer, Department of Education;
- 2. **Mrs Caroline Gillan**, Head of Inclusion, Access and Well-Being, Department of Education;
- 3. **Dr Clare Mangan**, Chief Executive, Belfast Education and Library Board;
- 4. Ms Alex Barr, Chief Education Welfare Officer, Southern Education and Library Board;
- 5. **Mr Kieran Donnelly**, Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG), Northern Ireland Audit Office;
- 6. **Mr Mike Brennan**, Acting Treasury Officer of Accounts, Department of Finance and Personnel.



Published by Authority of the Northern Ireland Assembly, Belfast: The Stationery Office

and available from:

Online

www.tsoshop.co.uk

Mail, Telephone, Fax & E-mail

TS0

PO Box 29, Norwich, NR3 1GN

Telephone orders/General enquiries: 0870 600 5522

Fax orders: 0870 600 5533

 $\hbox{E-mail: customer.services@tso.co.uk}\\$

Textphone 0870 240 3701

TSO@Blackwell and other Accredited Agents

£12.50

Printed in Northern Ireland by The Stationery Office Limited © Copyright Northern Ireland Assembly Commission 2014

